How Public Policy and Legislation Can Support the Prevention of Domestic Violence in Alberta





Principal Investigator

Lana Wells, the Brenda Strafford Chair in the Prevention of Domestic Violence, in the Faculty of Social Work, at the University of Calgary

Researchers

Elizabeth Dozois, Lead Researcher Merrill Cooper, Lead Researcher Caroline Claussen, Researcher Liza Lorenzetti, Researcher Casey Boodt, Researcher

Suggested Citation

Wells, L., Dozois, E., Cooper, M., Claussen, C., Lorenzetti, L., & Boodt, C. (2012). *How Public Policy and Legislation Can Support the Prevention of Domestic Violence in Alberta*. Calgary, AB: The University of Calgary, Shift: The Project to End Domestic Violence.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the Max Bell Foundation for funding this research project. We would also like to thank Pam Krause, Executive Director, Calgary Sexual Health Centre for her contribution to this report. The Brenda Strafford Chair would also like to thank the peer review panel for their insights in helping strengthen this report. The peer review panel included: Dr. Linda Chamberlain, PhD, MPH, Founding Director of the Alaska Family Violence Prevention Project; Jennifer Koshan, BSc, LLB, LLM, Associate Professor, Faculty of Law, University of Calgary; and, Dr. Robbie Babins-Wagner, PhD, RSW Chief Executive Officer, Calgary Counselling Centre, Adjunct Professor, Faculty of Social Work, University of Calgary.

Contact

Lana Wells, Brenda Strafford Chair in the Prevention of Domestic Violence 2500 University Drive NW, Calgary, AB, Canada T2N 1N4 Phone: 403-220-6484 Email: Imwells@ucalgary.ca

2012 Shift: The Project to End Domestic Violence



Table of Contents

Introduction	3
Methods Findings and Implications	
1.1 Prohibit corporal punishment	10
1.2 Prevent unplanned and teenaged pregnancies	
1.3 Improve the parenting skills of at-risk parents	13
2.0 Improve young people's healthy relationship skills	17
2.1 Introduce anti-bullying and healthy relationships programs in schools	18
2.2 Introduce trauma-informed/trauma-sensitive practices and principles into mental	
health, health, education and child welfare systems	21
3.0 Support the development of healthy community norms	24
3.1 Engage men and boys in violence prevention	25
3.2 Support immigrant, refugee and temporary foreign workers	28
4.0 Support healthy, non-violent environments	31
4.1 Foster healthy, non-violent workplaces	
4.2 Limit access to alcohol to reduce rates of violence	34
5.0 Include prevention measures in legislation and policy	36
5.1 Include primary prevention in domestic violence-related legislation and policy	36
5.2 Expand the definition of family violence in legislation	38
6.0 Establish a comprehensive system for collecting data and monitoring domestic	
violence	
6.1 Develop robust data collection system to more accurately track domestic violence	
6.2 Develop integrated and outcomes-based management and accountability framework	42
Conclusion	44
Glossary of Terms	45
Endnotes	47
Appendix A: Review Panel	63
Annondix B. Pacammandations from the Alberta Foderation of Labour Advocate	6/



Introduction

Shift: The Project to End Domestic Violence was initiated by the Brenda Strafford Chair in the Prevention of Domestic Violence, in the Faculty of Social Work, at the University of Calgary. Shift is aimed at significantly reducing domestic violence in Alberta using a primary prevention approach to stop first-time victimization and perpetration. In short, primary prevention means taking action to build resilience and prevent problems before they occur.

The purpose of Shift is to enhance the capacity of policy makers, systems leaders, clinicians, service providers and the community at large, to significantly reduce the rates of domestic violence in Alberta. We are committed to making our research accessible and working collaboratively with a diverse range of stakeholders, to inform and influence current and future domestic violence prevention efforts, through the perspective of primary prevention. This research paper was conducted to ground us in policy and legislation that is evidence-informed and has demonstrated a reduction in domestic violence and family violence and the building of healthy relationship skills across populations.

Over the past two decades, Alberta has led the way in efforts to address domestic violence, introducing legislation that is at the forefront of violence protection measures both nationally and internationally. As part of a suite of anti-violence policy and program initiatives, two ground-breaking acts—the Protection Against Family Violence Act (PAFVA) and the Children, Youth, and Families Enhancement Act (CYFEA)—send strong messages that abuse will not be tolerated in this province. These acts provide victims with tools to protect family members—including children, adults and seniors—from further harm. The Protection Against Family Violence Act and its amendments has dramatically improved victims' access to protection orders in emergency situations, while revisions to the Children, Youth, and Families Enhancement Act has helped to address children's exposure to domestic violence. These and other legislative and policy changes have improved police and judicial responses to all aspects of domestic violence. Building on its successful protection measures, Alberta is now poised to take the lead in implementing measures that will prevent domestic violence before it occurs. Primary prevention of domestic violence is challenging, but not impossible. Advances in prevention science have helped to identify the factors that place people at risk of perpetrating and/or experiencing domestic violence, and have highlighted promising approaches to mitigate or eliminate those risk factors.

The research points to two broad areas as key levers for primary prevention of domestic violence. The first is children, youth and young adults. Studies unequivocally show that most of the precursors of domestic violence occur in childhood and adolescence. Children and youth learn relationship skills and social behaviours from their parents and other family members.² A high proportion of children who witness or experience violent relationships in childhood go on to perpetuate these patterns in adulthood with their own children and



partners.³ Primary prevention of domestic violenceⁱ must therefore focus on children, youth and at-risk young adults, especially those who are or may soon become parents.⁴ The second focus for prevention of domestic violence is socio-cultural norms and environments. Social and cultural norms determine our sense of appropriate and inappropriate behaviours,⁵ and research has shown a strong association between sociocultural acceptance of violence and increased risk for all types of interpersonal violence.⁶ This paper focuses on both of these levers for primary prevention, outlining ways in which they can be enhanced through provincial policy, legislation, leadership and resource allocation.

Domestic violence prevention requires the long-term commitment of resources, people and leadership across *all* sectors; no one sector can create change of this scale on its own. However, within a broader framework of multi-sectoral engagement, the Government of Alberta has a key role to play in making violence prevention a priority in this province. This paper proposes specific, evidence-informed program and policy amendments and initiatives to enhance the province's existing family violence strategy. By including an increased focus on primary prevention in policy, legislation and resource allocation, the Government of Alberta can play a pivotal role in significantly reducing and ultimately ending domestic violence, thereby laying the foundation for a safer, healthier and thriving Alberta.

-

ⁱ For definitions of primary prevention, domestic violence, please refer to the Glossary on page 45.

[&]quot;Note: Subsequent papers will outline strategies for other sectors.



Methods

The contents of this paper reflect a comprehensive and detailed review of the research on:
1) domestic violence and its etiology; 2) intervention points in the life cycle; and 3) policies and programs that have been demonstrated to be effective in stopping the development of characteristics that predispose some individuals to become perpetrators or victims of violence.

The research and recommendations included here reflect peer-reviewed, published literature obtained through searches of academic databases including Sociological Abstracts, Social Work Abstracts, Social Services Abstracts, Psychology Abstracts, PubMed, SocINDEX and CINAHL for articles from 2000 to the present, along with government and academic best practice violence prevention websites, including: Blueprints for Violence Prevention, Colorado Prevention Resource Database, Center for the Study and Prevention of Violence, Colorado University; Adults and Children Together Against Violence, American Psychological Association; Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Violence Prevention; the Aspen Institute; the Promising Practices Network, RAND Corporation; and the Substance Abuse & Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA)'s National Registry of Evidenced-based Programs and Practices (NREPP), U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Non-academic findings were obtained through reviews of international, national, and provincial legislation and public policy think tanks with expertise in the area of violence prevention.

In addition to the information sources listed above, the search for relevant policy and legislation in countries other than Canada included the following sources: Amnesty International, United Nations Division for the Advancement of Women; and, where information was available in English or French, the relevant government websites of all signatories to the Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) and supporters of the Declaration on the Elimination of Violence against Women (DEVAW) and, among the 70 countries for which information is provided on the United Nations Secretary-General's coordinated database on violence against women, those which are not signatories to CEDAW or supporters of DEVAW.

Early drafts of this paper were vetted by a range of expert reviewers, including policy analysts, primary prevention specialists, government stakeholders, academics and practitioners (Appendix A). Changes were made based on their feedback.

Scope of research

The scope of this paper is targeted in the following ways:

• The focus of this paper is *primary* prevention, and all recommendations reflect research on how domestic violence can be prevented from occurring at all. The



discussion and recommendations do not include ways of intervening when domestic violence has already occurred, i.e., preventing *further* violence. Although secondary and tertiary prevention efforts sometimes affect primary prevention, they are not included in this discussion.

- The recommendations offered in this paper address gaps or shortcomings in Alberta's efforts to prevent domestic violence. Where no change is required, no recommendation is offered. In addition, all recommendations reflect current research on the etiology and prevention of domestic violence. If no high-quality research supports a particular intervention, the intervention is not recommended in this report.
- In this paper, the focus is on the primary prevention of violence against *intimate* partners within or outside of marriage, rather than all family members. This is because effective primary prevention efforts tackle a problem's root causes, and the etiology of intimate partner violence often differs from that of other kinds of family violence. "Intimate Partners" may be current or former dating partners. (For a definition of Intimate Partners, please refer to the glossary on page 45).
- Primary prevention of sexual violence is not included in this paper. While sexual violence is a common component of domestic violence, it also occurs outside the scope of intimate relationships and often has a different etiology than other forms of domestic violence. Following the example of other provinces (e.g., Ontario), we encourage the Government of Alberta to undertake a study of evidence-informed policy and practices relating to sexual violence, and design a Sexual Violence Action Plan.
- Myriad studies have identified contextual factors related to housing, poverty and employment as key issues preventing victims of domestic violence from leaving or returning to their abusive partners.⁷ Helping parents who are victims of domestic violence to become independent from their abusive partners is an important strategy in preventing children's exposure to domestic violence and its consequences. Shift will continue to work with poverty reduction groups and affordable housing advocates to ensure that domestic violence prevention is a key element of policy development in these areas. However, the complexity of social policy related to poverty reduction and affordable housing was not within the scope of this paper.
- Surveillance data show that Aboriginal peoples experience significantly higher rates
 of domestic violence than the rest of the population.⁸ It must be stressed from the
 outset that the unique situation of Aboriginal peoples is not fully reflected in this
 paper. Because domestic violence experienced by Aboriginal peoples is shaped by a



distinct web of cultural and historical factors, the Government of Alberta should consider: 1) undertaking a study of evidence-based policy and practices to prevent domestic violence in Aboriginal communities; and 2) working with Aboriginal leaders to design a strategy that is reflective of the strengths and needs of Aboriginal communities.

- Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgendered, Two-Spirited and Questioning (LGBT2SQ)
 populations are important to consider in any domestic violence prevention strategy.
 Shift is currently exploring promising practices and legislation for these populations
 through a separate research study.
- This paper is intended for use by the Government of Alberta. For this reason, the strategies and recommendations outlined herein focus solely on what can be achieved through policy, legislation, research and resource allocation at a provincial level. Strategies for other community stakeholders (e.g., organizations, service providers, faith groups, municipalities, etc.) are not within the scope of this report.



Findings and Implications

The six strategies and corresponding recommendations presented in this document are as follows:

- 1. Strengthen strategies to prevent childhood exposure to violence in the home
 - Prohibit corporal punishment
 - Prevent unplanned and teenaged pregnancy
 - Improve the parenting skills of at-risk parents
- 2. Improve young people's healthy relationship skills
 - Introduce evidence-based anti-bullying and healthy relationships programming in all Alberta schools, including post-secondary
 - Introduce trauma-informed/trauma-sensitive practices and principles into mental health, health, education and child welfare systems
- 3. Support the development of healthy community norms
 - Engage men and boys in violence prevention
 - Support immigrant, refugee and temporary foreign workers to enhance healthy family and community norms
- 4. Support healthy, non-violent environments
 - Foster healthy, non-violent workplaces
 - Limit access to alcohol to reduce rates of violence
- 5. Include prevention measures in legislation and policy
 - Include primary prevention in domestic violence-related legislation and policy frameworks
 - Expand the definition of family violence in legislation to include dating relationships, as well as emotional and financial abuse
- 6. Establish a comprehensive system for collecting data and monitoring domestic violence in Alberta
 - Develop a robust data collection system to more accurately track the prevalence of domestic violence across Alberta
 - Develop an integrated and outcomes-based management and accountability framework that supports research, evaluation and continuous improvement.



Each of these strategies is outlined in the sections that follow, together with a brief overview of promising practices from other jurisdictions throughout the world.

1.0 Strengthen strategies to prevent childhood exposure to violence in the home

The issue:

Children who are abused and children who witness the abuse of a parent (which often occur in tandem)⁹ are at risk of significant, long-term emotional problems, along with a range of behavioural problems including violence toward others in childhood and adolescence,¹⁰ abusive behaviours toward their own children in adulthood,¹¹ and abuse of and/or victimization by dating and marriage partners.¹² Of course, not all children who experience or witness violence develop these propensities, but the risk is high: One of the largest, clearest and most compelling studies conducted to date found that any one of three childhood experiences—physical abuse, sexual abuse or growing up with a battered mother—doubled the risk of domestic violence victimization or perpetration in adulthood. Having all three experiences increased the risk by three-and-a-half times for women and even more for men.¹³

While the chance of becoming a perpetrator or victim of violence in adolescence and adulthood is greatest for children who have suffered severe and ongoing maltreatment, for some individuals, even less severe forms of abuse can increase the risk of later violence. In fact, the research is clear that even mild to moderate corporal punishment that causes no physical harm is associated with increased aggression in adulthood. In

How does this happen? Experiences of violence in the home teach children that violence is an acceptable, even normal, part of parenting¹⁶ and intimate relationships. In fact, some research has found a direct relationship between the level of abuse experienced by mothers and the beliefs of elementary school-aged children about the intrinsic dominance of men.¹⁷ Research also suggests that, by adolescence, children who have experienced or witnessed violence often have trouble trusting others and forming healthy intimate relationships with peers,¹⁸ leading some to question whether they would be able to control their aggression and become non-violent partners.¹⁹

What more can be done:

Research suggests that the following strategies could help to prevent violence against children in the home:

- Prohibit corporal punishment
- Prevent unplanned and teenaged pregnancy



• Improve the parenting skills of at-risk parents

Each of these is discussed further below.

1.1 Prohibit corporal punishment

Corporal punishment is defined as "the use of physical force with the intention of causing a child to experience pain, but not injury, for purposes of correction or control of the child's behaviour." Despite the commonly-held belief in North America that corporal punishment used by loving parents in a positive context is a positive (or at least harmless) discipline technique, evidence suggests otherwise. An overwhelming body of research now shows that even mild and moderate corporal punishment has harmful side effects that can endure into adulthood. These negative effects include, but are not limited to: antisocial behaviour in children; adult emotional problems and depression (even controlling for socioeconomic status, gender, spousal violence, alcohol consumption and witnessing violence); adult aggression and criminal behaviour; and increased verbal and physical aggression with marriage and dating partners. Some studies in the United States have found that a majority of child abuse cases arise in situations where the abuser intended to discipline the child, and two-thirds of abusive parents admit that their abuse began as an attempt to discipline their child.

Determining the prevalence of corporal punishment is extremely challenging as estimates are usually based on parental self-report, which are subject to deliberate omissions and errors of recall.²⁸ However, Canadian surveys over the last decade have shown rates as high as 50 per cent.²⁹

What others are doing:

- A total of 24 countries have banned corporal punishment in the past 30 years, including New Zealand in 2007, when the government was swayed by growing public concern over domestic violence and the strong research evidence discrediting the use of physical punishment of children. A systematic review of changes in public attitudes and behaviours following the introduction of "anti-spanking" legislation revealed that legal bans on corporal punishment are closely associated with large decreases in support for, and use of, corporal punishment as a child- discipline technique. It is unclear whether the legislation has directly reduced physical child abuse because decreases in support for corporal punishment are also associated with increases in reporting of abuse.³⁰
- In 2004, a Canadian coalition of health-related organizations issued a joint statement calling for: 1) "delivery of public awareness messages to inform all Canadians that physical punishment is harmful to children's development and is ineffective as discipline; 2) development of universal parenting education; and 3) provision of the same protection of children from physical assault as is given to Canadian adults and to children in a growing number of countries." ³¹



 The Institute for Safe Families has developed a number of train-the-trainer resources designed to inform parents of the negative impact of corporal punishment on brain development, and support for families in implementing positive, developmentally-appropriate discipline strategies.³²

Recommendations:

- Amend Alberta's Protection Against Family Violence Act, RSA 2000, c. P-27, section 1(1)(e) to revise the definition of "family violence," which currently allows parents and persons standing in the place of parents to use reasonable force by way of correction.
- Amend the Child, Youth and Family Enhancement Act, RSA 2000, c. C-12 to include a
 provision explicitly stating that "[c]hildren are entitled to care, security and a good
 upbringing. Children are to be treated with respect for their person and individuality
 and may not be subjected to corporal punishment or any other humiliating
 treatment."³³
- Lobby the Government of Canada to repeal section 43 of the Criminal Code, RSC 1985, c. C-46, which currently allows the use of reasonable force by schoolteachers, parents and persons standing in the place of a parent to correct children's behaviour. Once repealed, develop a policy for police and prosecutors in Alberta that outlines the proper enforcement of the assault provisions of the Criminal Code in cases of corporal punishment.
- Fund awareness initiatives directed at parents and professionals who work with children around the negative impact of corporal punishment on brain development.

1.2 Prevent unplanned and teenaged pregnancies

Babies born to teenage mothers are at increased risk for abuse due to a constellation of maternal risk factors that can include lower income, lower education, limited caregiving skills³⁴ and issues related to the normal developmental challenges of adolescence.³⁵ Research shows that the risk of child abuse is especially high when the mother is aged 17 or younger.³⁶ In addition, most teen pregnancies are unplanned, and some research has found an association between unintended pregnancy and child abuse, even among adult mothers. For example, in the largest population-based study to date, researchers in the United Kingdom found that children who were registered with a child protection agency by the age of six were nearly three times more likely than others to have been the result of an unintended pregnancy.³⁷ In Alberta, the teen (age 15-19) pregnancy rate is 4.1 per cent, considerably higher than the national rate of 2.9 per cent.³⁸

Research shows that sexual education is associated with lower teen pregnancy rates. For example, in a large U.S. study of 15-19 year-olds, youth who received comprehensive sex



education were significantly less likely to report teen pregnancy than those who received no formal sex education or those who received abstinence-only education.³⁹

Alberta's human sexuality education curriculum includes instruction in elementary school (puberty and the human reproductive system, within the health curriculum taught by teachers); junior high school (sexually transmitted infections, abuse, contraception, safer sex practices, preventing sexual risk, within the health curriculum taught by teachers);⁴⁰ and high school (healthy sexuality, sexual wellness and responsible sexual behaviour, within the Career and Life Management Curriculum [CALM]). 41 Upon request from their parents, students may be exempted from participation in the otherwise mandatory CALM program or from any course content that deals primarily and explicitly with human sexuality or sexual orientation. 42 In addition, the quality and content of sexual education is not rigorously managed: while the curriculum is mandated, teachers have a great deal of latitude in content and delivery methods. Teachers are not required to use governmentauthorized curriculum content, instructional methods or external speakers and resources. Alberta Health Services does provide research-based best practice curriculum resources authorized by Alberta Education, and identifies appropriate community and government agencies to provide sexual health education, 43 however, the selection of curriculum materials and guest speakers rests with individual teachers.

What others are doing:

- Sexual health education is provided to teens by schools in most countries around the world, with notable exceptions including some countries in South Asia and the Middle East. In general, countries that provide mandatory and comprehensive sexuality education have significantly lower rates of teen pregnancy than the U.S., where most programs promote abstinence from sex until marriage, and England, where parents can exempt their children from participation. For example, in 2006, the Netherlands boasted one of the lowest teen birth rates in the world (3.8 per 1,000 women aged 15 to 19), compared to 41.9 per 1,000 in the U.S., 26.7 in the U.K., and 13.3 in Canada. This is consistent with overwhelming research evidence showing that abstinence-only programs are ineffective in preventing pregnancy and may, in fact, increase it —and that comprehensive programs do not hasten the initiation of sexual activity or increase the frequency of sex among adolescents.
- Introduced in July 2011, the U.S. federal *Communities of Color Teenage Pregnancy Prevention Act* (HR 2678/S 1437) supports research and demonstration projects for racial and ethnic communities with disproportionately high rates of teen pregnancy. The act will also integrate efforts to prevent teen pregnancy with strategies to address dating violence and build healthy relationships.⁴⁸
- In 1999, England launched the *Teenage Pregnancy Strategy*, a coordinated campaign with programs and services at the national, local and school level. Since



then, the rate for women under 18 has dropped by 25 per cent, and is now at the lowest it has been in 20 years. ⁴⁹

Recommendations:

- Amend the Alberta Learning Curriculum to implement comprehensive sexuality education from grades 4 to 11, ensuring that instruction is standardized, hours of instruction are mandated and the curriculum is based on the *Canadian Guidelines for Comprehensive Sexuality Education*. This policy change requires amending Alberta Education Directive 4.1.2, Human Sexuality Education, which states that every board-operated school offering grades 4, 5, 6 Health, grades 7, 8, 9 Health and Life Management, and the high school Career and Life Management Program shall ensure that the human sexuality component is offered to all students. The amendment would state that Human Sexuality Education in Alberta will be aligned with the principles of the *Canadian Guidelines for Comprehensive Sexuality Education*.
- Amend the Alberta Human Rights Act, RSA 2000, c.A-25.5, to repeal section 11.1 (added in 2009 by Bill 44) in order to make the sexual health curriculum mandatory (i.e., no opting out).
- Working in partnership at the local level, fund and support a community coordinated approach that supports organizations to provide healthy sexuality education for populations at risk.

1.3 Improve the parenting skills of at-risk parents, including victims of domestic violence

The key risk factors for child abuse include: young parenting,⁵¹ maternal depression,⁵² mental health problems,⁵³ drug or alcohol abuse,⁵⁴ parental experience of abuse or witnessing domestic violence in childhood,⁵⁵ and current domestic violence in the household.⁵⁶ These risk factors often co-occur and are more common in lower-income families, as is child abuse:⁵⁷ Of all police-reported incidents of child abuse and neglect in Canada in 2008, one-third of families were receiving social assistance or other benefits as their source of income.⁵⁸

The concurrent incidence of domestic violence and child maltreatment is well documented. In 46 per cent of all substantiated child maltreatment investigations in Canada in 2008, at least one of the child's primary caregivers was a victim of domestic violence.⁵⁹ Research suggests that the frequency of child abuse generally seems to increase with the frequency of domestic violence and generally follows one of three patterns: 1) one parent abuses both the other parent and the children (least common); 2) one parent abuses the other parent who then abuses the children; 3) one parent abuses the other parent (or the parents abuse each other) and both parents abuse the children (most common).⁶⁰



Evidence-based home visitation programs⁶¹ have proven effective in preventing and reducing child maltreatment, and new research is showing that they can also prevent and reduce domestic violence. One of the best examples of an effective program is the Nurse-Family Partnership (NFP) program, which has been tested through multiple randomized controlled trials and shown to improve pregnancy outcomes, child health and development, educational outcomes and family economic self-sufficiency, while reducing child maltreatment and injuries, juvenile delinquency, crime and welfare dependency.⁶² Preliminary research now suggests that enhanced violence-prevention programs based on the NFP model, such as the Enhanced NFP and the Domestic Violence Enhanced Visitation Intervention (DOVE), may also be effective in preventing and reducing domestic violence.⁶³ The NFP program has also been proven cost effective, yielding a cost-benefit ratio of 5.7:1 (i.e., for every dollar invested, nearly \$6 of benefits in a wide range of health, education, child maltreatment, domestic violence and employment outcomes for women and children is realized by both the government and society at large).⁶⁴

Intensive, evidence-based⁶⁵ parenting programsⁱⁱⁱ may also be effective in preventing and stopping child physical abuse, even among high-risk parents.⁶⁶ Evaluations show that research-based programs such as the Triple P Positive Parenting Program and the Incredible Years Program clearly improve parenting skills and have also improved outcomes associated with physically abusive parenting and/or reduced recurrence of child welfare reports of physical abuse.⁶⁷ However, only the Triple P Parenting Program has been evaluated in a large, randomized control trial, which found a 28 per cent reduction in substantiated abuse cases, a 44 per cent reduction in child out-of-home placements, and a 35 per cent reduction in hospitalizations and emergency room visits for child injuries in nine study counties.⁶⁸ Recent research indicates that an evidence-based parenting program modified for and delivered to very high-risk parents—inmates and people in substance abuse recovery—was effective in improving parenting attitudes and knowledge. Of all the parents who participated, those who were at the highest risk for abuse showed the greatest improvements.⁶⁹

Studies have shown that home visitation programs are *ineffective* in those cases where domestic violence is occurring but is not being addressed.⁷⁰ This has important implications

-

It should be noted that intensive parenting programs go well beyond parental support and education and either focus on or include family therapy and family skills training. There is no clear evidence that simply providing instruction to parents of at-risk children on child development, discipline, appropriate expectations, and so on improves the parenting skills of at-risk parents. Among these parents, changes in knowledge and attitudes about parenting do not always lead to behavioural changes. (See, for example, Tolamn, R.M. & Wang, H. 2005. "Intimate partner violence and women's employment: Fixed effects models of three waves of women's employment study data." *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 36(1/2), 148-158; Tolman, R.M. & Rosen, D. 2001. "Intimate partner violence in the lives of women receiving welfare: Mental health, substance dependence, and economic well-being." *Violence Against Women*, 7(2), 141–158.Raphael, J. & Haennicke, S. 1998. *The family violence option: An early assessment. A Taylor Institute report submitted to the Federal Department of Health and Human Services*, Washington, DC); Raphael, J. 1996. *Prisoners of abuse: Intimate partner violence and welfare receipt*: (Available from the Center for Impact Research, 915 N. Wolcott, Chicago, IL 60222).



for home visitation programs, many of which do not include a formal domestic violence protocol.⁷¹ Research suggests that home visitors often are unaware of the importance of screening for domestic violence. Many also lack the knowledge and skills to handle the information once domestic violence has been disclosed, and are usually unaware of how their own experiences impact the way they handle domestic violence disclosures.⁷²

What others are doing:

- Over the past three years, researchers at McMaster University in Hamilton, ON, have been adapting the NFP for the Canadian context and completing a pilot project in Ontario. The NFP will now be piloted in two other provinces, including British Columbia where an additional component has been incorporated to equip home visitation nurses to address domestic violence. Each of the pilots will be evaluated using a randomized controlled trial. If the NFP is as successful in Canada as it has been in the U.S., it is hoped that provinces will take steps to integrate the program into their health care systems.⁷³ The program is also being adapted, developed and tested in the Netherlands (see below), Germany, England and Australia.⁷⁴
- The Netherlands has increased home visitation for low socio-economic status families with children under the age of four years. The government is also investing in scientific evaluations of home visitation initiatives to examine the cost-benefit ratios of existing home visiting programmes linked to social services (such as employment, health insurance and daycare).
- In 2010, health care legislation in the U.S. was reformed by the *Patient Protection* and *Affordable Care Act*, which established a home visitation grant program for states. This provision provides \$1.5 billion over five years for maternal, infant and early childhood home visitation programs. Grantees are required to use an evidence-based program model with a benchmark component that measures improvement in maternal and child health, childhood injury prevention, school readiness and achievement, crime or domestic violence, family economic self-sufficiency, and coordination with community resources and supports. The criteria for "evidence-based" programs are very stringent.⁷⁶
- Futures Without Violence has developed tools, training and resources designed to help home visitation programs in the U.S. meet the federal benchmark to address domestic violence. Entitled Healthy Moms, Healthy Babies: A Train the Trainers Curriculum on Domestic Violence, Reproductive Coercion and Children Exposed, the curriculum helps home visitation workers develop skills and expertise around assessment, anticipatory guidance and supported referrals for families at risk of, or experiencing, domestic violence.⁷⁷ The curriculum is being used by Nurse-Family Partnership programs throughout the U.S.⁷⁸



- The Government of Alberta recently expanded the Triple P Parenting Program to 45
 Parent Link Centres across the province. In 2010, \$1 million in Safe Communities
 funding was earmarked to support the continued expansion of Triple P, including
 additional training for Parent Link Centre staff to provide the program to parents.⁷⁹
- Recent evaluations of home visitation programs show enhanced effectiveness for women who receive home visitation programs *prenatally*. In an evaluation of the Healthy Families New York Program (HFNY), participants who received HFNY by 30 weeks of pregnancy were less likely than their counterparts in the control group to engage in physical aggression and harsh parenting. The program was particularly effective for those women who were "psychologically vulnerable." The finding suggests that, "improved effects may be realized by prioritizing the populations served or by enhancing the model to meet program objectives for hard-to-serve families." ⁸⁰

Recommendations:

- Evaluate the Alberta Home Visitation program to understand its ability to enhance protective factors related to healthy childhood development and positive familial relationships.
- Provide comprehensive training⁸¹ for Home Visitors on how to properly screen for domestic violence, provide anticipatory guidance and connect at-risk individuals to appropriate services in the community.
- Pilot an enhanced Nurse-Family Partnership program (similar to the one being piloted in British Columbia) in three distinct communities across the province and evaluate to determine its effectiveness in Alberta. If successful, consider scaling up the program to ensure that it is delivered province-wide.
- Increase funding to Triple P Parenting Programs across the province and develop a targeted strategy for at-risk families.
- Ensure that all government-funded parenting programs include content on trauma, early brain development, the impact of adverse childhood experiences on parenting skills and the effects of violence on child development.
- Amend sections 2(3) and 4(2) of the Protection Against Family Violence Act to include a requirement that parenting programs are made available (on a voluntary basis) to any parents who are made subject to an Emergency Protection Order or Queen's Bench Protection Order involving domestic violence or child abuse. Programs should be available at no cost to participants.
- Work with the Government of Canada to amend the Criminal Code to include a requirement that parenting programs are made available (on a voluntary basis) to parents who are convicted of a domestic violence or child abuse offence. This amendment would complement sections 718.01 and 718.2(a) of the Criminal Code,



which require courts to consider whether offences have involved abuse of children or domestics at the stage of sentencing.

2.0 Improve young people's healthy relationship skills

The issue:

In addition to experiencing negative physical, behavioural, psychological and cognitive effects⁸², children who have been exposed to domestic violence often learn destructive lessons about the use of violence and power in relationships. Children may learn that it is acceptable to exert control or relieve stress by using violence, or that violence is in some way linked to expressions of intimacy and affection. These lessons can have a powerful and negative effect in social situations and relationships in both childhood and adulthood.⁸³

A growing body of research shows that domestic violence is often preceded by dating violence in adolescence, which is often preceded by bullying and aggression in childhood and early adolescence, and that both bullying and dating violence are associated with the experience of child abuse and/or witnessing domestic violence.⁸⁴ (This is especially true for girls⁸⁵). Canadian researchers describe bullying "as a warm-up for long-term relationship problems. The lessons of power and aggression learned in playground bullying can transfer to sexual harassment, dating aggression and may extend to workplace harassment, as well as marital, child and elder abuse."⁸⁶ A Canadian longitudinal study examining rates of bullying and dating violence trajectories revealed that only a small percentage of girls and boys engaged in bullying "regularly and frequently" (more than once a month). However, of those who engaged in frequent bullying, 100 per cent of the girls and about 70 per cent of the boys were involved in dating violence in adolescence.⁸⁷

Police-reported rates of dating violence in Canada appear to be on the rise, with almost 23,000 incidents of dating violence reported to police in 2008. Reported in 2012 by Statistics Canada, dating violence was more prevalent than spousal violence, with a rate that was higher than all other relationship categories, including friends and acquaintances. Common assault was the most frequently occurring offence in dating relationships and girls were the victim 10 times more often than boys among 15 to 19 year-olds. 89

What more can be done:

Research suggests that the following strategies could help to improve young people's healthy relationship skills:

- Introduce evidence-based anti-bullying and healthy relationships programming in all Alberta schools, including post-secondary
- Introduce trauma-informed/trauma-sensitive practices and principles into mental health, education and child welfare systems



Each of these is discussed further below.

2.1 Introduce evidence-based anti-bullying and healthy relationships programming in all Alberta schools, including post-secondary

Based on the evidence to date, the World Health Organization (WHO) cites school-based programming as the most promising primary prevention strategy for reducing rates of domestic and sexual violence. ⁹⁰ Programs such as the Fourth R⁹¹ and Safe Dates, ⁹² which support the development of healthy relationship skills for adolescents, have been proven effective in reducing rates of dating violence. More importantly, longitudinal studies suggest that the effects of these programs last well beyond the intervention, with the Fourth R demonstrating reduced rates of physical dating violence 2.5 years after the intervention ⁹³, and Safe Dates showing continued program effects after three years. ⁹⁴

Program elements that are common to those school-based dating violence prevention programs that have demonstrated effectiveness include: opportunities for skill development through role play and scenarios; programming timed to coincide with the onset of dating violence and risk behaviours; programming components that address norms related to dating violence; and programming embedded within the school curriculum. ⁹⁵

While most of this programming is targeted to junior and senior high students, evidence suggests that post-secondary students also comprise a critical population for healthy relationships as this age group is at highest risk for intimate partner violence. A recent study of 1,572 students at Mount Royal University in Calgary found that one in three students had experienced dating violence. This is also an age at which dating becomes more intimate, serious and "identify focused," with young people beginning to define expectations for long-term or life partners. For these reasons, healthy relationships programming and initiatives should extend to post-secondary institutions.

In addition to healthy relationships curricula, school-based bullying prevention programs have also proven effective. In a recent systematic review, school-based bullying programs were associated with an average decrease of 20 to 23 per cent in bullying and 17 to 20 per cent in victimization. Research suggests that effective programs include the following elements: parent training, improved playground supervision, disciplinary methods, classroom management, teacher training, a whole-school anti-bullying policy, school conferences, information for parents and cooperative group work. Duration and intensity of the program also impact results. Other research suggests that bullying programs should centre on relationships, emphasize skill-building, focus on peer contexts and take a comprehensive approach that includes individual, peer, school and community strategies. A combination of universal approaches (whole school) and targeted approaches (for those at risk of, or currently involved, in bullying) are recommended. Bullying prevention programs that have been shown to be effective in multiple, well-designed studies include the Olweus Bullying Prevention Program and KiVa.



What others are doing:

- Many provincial governments in Canada have introduced policy requiring that schools develop bullying prevention and intervention plans and procedures, and have provided schools with resources and training to support these efforts. However, it does not appear that any province has mandated the use of a comprehensive, evidence-based program or that schools have engaged in rigorous evaluation of their anti-bullying initiatives.
- The Fourth R is an evidence-based healthy relationships curriculum designed for junior and senior high school-aged students delivered by teachers. Comprehensive in its approach, the program is unique in that it addresses risk factors that are highly correlated with dating violence (substance abuse, media violence and sexuality). Developed in Canada, The Fourth R is one of the few programs that have been proven to reduce violence and to improve decision-making and communication skills among students. The Fourth R has expanded to schools in Manitoba, Quebec, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Yukon and Nova Scotia. The Fourth R is slowly gaining ground in Alberta as well. The program is now operating in 40 schools in Calgary; in addition, the Strathmore School District has adopted the program, and six educational jurisdictions in Alberta have expressed interest in implementing the Fourth R in 2012-13.
- Most western European countries and some eastern European countries have implemented school-based programming to decrease physical and verbal aggression and improve social skills among children in preschool and the first few years of elementary school. For example, in the 1990s, Germany introduced the Faustlos or "Second Step" program for all children aged three to 10 years. The program has been repeatedly evaluated and demonstrated to increase conceptual knowledge of social skills and decrease physical aggression, verbal aggression and disruptive behaviour.¹⁰⁷
- As part of its Municipal Plan Against Violence Towards Women, the city of Barcelona, Spain, is working to "design, develop and offer prevention workshops in secondary schools and youth associations as a strategy for fostering respectful behaviour, and supporting the development of "values, attitudes and relationship models that help avoid the formation of abusive behaviours in relationships." Prevention workshops focusing on abusive behaviour are also offered in universities because "it is at this stage when people first form long-term relationships." 108
- The U.S. federal SAFE Teen Act (S.1447/H.R. 2689), introduced in 2011, will amend the Elementary and Secondary Education Act to include dating violence prevention among the drug and violence prevention efforts funded under the Safe and Drug-Free Schools and Communities program. The legislation requires schools that



receive federal funding for bullying and harassment to include teen dating violence prevention. Schools are also encouraged to train all of their staff on the issue, and incorporate response mechanisms into school policies. At least 15 states in the U.S. (Arizona, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Massachusetts, Nebraska, New Jersey, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia and Washington) already have teen dating violence laws that urge or require school boards to develop curriculum on teen dating violence, but most do not provide additional guidance or funding for implementation. ¹⁰⁹

- In the 1990s, the U.S. passed legislation requiring sexual assault prevention and intervention strategies to be implemented in all post-secondary institutions. The Campus Sexual Assault Victims' Bill of Rights (1992) "requires that all colleges and universities (both public and private) participating in federal student aid programs afford sexual assault victims certain basic rights. It also requires the school to notify victims of their option to report their assault to the proper law enforcement authorities."
- In Calgary, Mount Royal University (MRU) has developed a comprehensive on-campus dating violence prevention project that includes: screening and referrals; safety planning; social marketing; policy change; training for peer counselling; and collaboration with community-based services. MRU has also piloted and evaluated a healthy relationships program. Based on the successful *Making Waves/Vague par Vague* program from New Brunswick, MRU's *Stepping Up* entails an intensive, peerfacilitated weekend workshop and community prevention/awareness projects. The program evaluation shows increased knowledge of warning signs, interventions and community resources for dating violence and sexual assault. Evidence suggests that these gains are sustained over the school year.¹¹¹

Recommendations:

- Fund an evidence-based bullying prevention program in all Alberta elementary schools. The program should include whole-school policy and programming at three levels: universal programs targeting the entire school population; specific programs focusing on students with early signs of involvement in bullying or victimization; and selected programs dealing with students having chronic problems with bullying or victimization. Programming should also address the use of technology and social media as sources of bullying.
- Pilot the Fourth R in five jurisdictions in junior and senior high schools in Alberta and evaluate its effectiveness within the Alberta context.
- Fund the implementation of evidence-based healthy relationships initiatives in all
 publicly funded post-secondary institutions in Alberta. In addition to programming,
 these initiatives should include measures to support a shift in attitudes and norms
 (e.g., policy change, social marketing, training and resources).



• Require that all bullying/dating violence prevention programming implemented in Alberta schools be evidence-based, meaning: 1) the individuals who are delivering the program have been formally trained; 2) the program has been in existence for at least three years; 3) the program has been evaluated using a well-designed and rigorous randomized controlled trial (RCT) and the evaluation results have been published in a peer-reviewed journal; and 4) the program has shown significant and sustained reductions in bullying and/or dating violence or victimization.

2.2 Introduce trauma-informed/trauma-sensitive practices and principles into mental health, health, education and child welfare systems

Childhood exposure to traumatic events is a significant public health issue, with estimates suggesting that 26 per cent of children in the United States will witness or experience a traumatic event before the age of four years. Research has shown that exposure to traumatic events, such as witnessing or experiencing physical or sexual abuse, can have many negative effects throughout childhood and adolescence. The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study found a strong relationship between traumatic events experienced in childhood (as reported in adulthood) and chronic physical illness such as heart disease, and mental health problems such as depression. As depression.

Counselling for children exposed to traumatic events such as domestic violence aims to address the most common consequences of exposure, which include attachment disorders, depression, post-traumatic stress disorder and conduct problems. Research on the most effective kinds of treatment for children has been growing over the past decade, resulting in a mounting body of research that identifies both effective and promising interventions. The U.S. Department of Justice has developed a matrix of all evidence-based and promising practices to date for children exposed to violence, including programs such as Kids Club and Mom's Empowerment, Project Support and Domestic Violence Home Visitation. The most researched intervention for children exposed to domestic violence is trauma-focused cognitive—behavioural therapy (TF-CBT), which appears to be more effective than supportive child-centred therapy in reducing all symptoms experienced by children. TF-CBT can be used with children aged three to 18 and comprises specific modules completed over 12 to 18 sessions, including training for parents to manage their children's acting-out behaviours. The composition of the properties of the propertie

In addition to individual trauma-informed therapeutic approaches, there is evidence of trauma-informed frameworks that support the use of multiple strategies and tools for infusing trauma-sensitive perspectives and approaches in organizations and systems (i.e., schools, public education systems, child welfare and juvenile justice systems). These trauma-sensitive strategies and tools ensure that mental health, academic and justice services/supports are sensitive to the needs of traumatized children. The most well-



developed and researched is the ARC Framework (Attachment, Self-Regulation and Competency). 119

What others are doing:

- Based on the ARC Framework, the Calgary Board of Education's (CBE) Trauma-Sensitive Schools Initiative has been rolled out to 22 schools in the district. This new initiative is the largest implementation of the ARC Framework within a school setting internationally. Whole-school approaches are used to train staff and administration in trauma-sensitive principles and practices by ARC-certified CBE psychologists. The Spokane School Board has a similar initiative: Whole-school approaches are used to train staff and administration in trauma-sensitive principles and practices. Spokane's Trauma-Sensitive Schools Initiative is now in six Tier 1 schools in the district.
- Massachusetts recently filed Bill H 1962, An Act for Safe and Supportive Schools, requiring schools in the state to develop action plans to create safe and supportive environments by 2017, using the ARC Framework.¹²² The Bill also stipulates that a commission be struck to: oversee state-wide implementation of the framework in schools; establish a Centres of Excellence grant program to fund exemplar schools that wish to serve as models; and require the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education to provide technical assistance to schools.
- The United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration has implemented two initiatives specifically focused on childhood trauma. The SAMHSA Children's Mental Health Initiative allows grantees to apply a system of care approach for systemic reform of children's mental health services. These systems of care are organizational philosophies and frameworks that are designed to create a network of effective community-based services and supports to improve the lives of children and youth with or at risk of serious mental health conditions. The second initiative, the National Child Traumatic Stress Initiative, aims to raise the standard of care and improve access to services for children and youth throughout the United States who have experienced trauma. They have also announced 15 grant awards for \$7 million to improve services available to children and adolescents who have experienced traumatic events. Grant areas are: 1) working to develop and test best methods for preventing, screening and treating behavioural health problems that can arise because of trauma; and 2) delivery of trauma-informed practices and interventions to children and adolescents in community-based settings. Grants in the first area have been directed to universities and research centres, while the second have been targeted to community-based organizations that provide counselling and services for children, adolescents and their families.



- Project BEST is a state-wide collaborative effort to use innovative community-based dissemination, training and implementation methods to dramatically increase the capacity of every community in South Carolina to deliver evidence-supported mental health treatments to every abused and traumatized child who needs them. This project involves teaching clinicians how to do ESTs (evidence-supported treatments) and enabling brokers of mental health services to identify and refer appropriate children for treatment, incorporate ESTs into their treatment planning and monitor progress. The initial treatment being implemented by Project BEST is Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (TF-CBT).
- The U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) is supporting the National Child Traumatic Stress Network and its membership in developing, testing and disseminating evidence-based treatments for children who experience post-traumatic reactions following their exposure to domestic violence.¹²⁴ Core principles for interventions have also been developed.
- Also funded by SAMHSA is the Chadwick Trauma-Informed Systems Project, whereby specialized service delivery and treatment models are being developed for children involved in the child welfare system that have been victims of abuse and/or domestic violence.¹²⁵ This project is ongoing in three sites across the United States, including Oklahoma, New Hampshire and San Diego. Their ultimate goal is to transform the child welfare system into a multi-dimensional, trauma-informed and evidence-based system.

Recommendations:

- Increase the number of staff psychologists on the Access Mental Health Child Team and within other child and youth mental health services (including but not limited to the Assessment Classroom for children, the Adolescent Day Treatment Program for adolescents, and the Transitional Youth Service for youth aged 16 to 24 years) to ensure that urgent care can be accessed within 48 hours and wait lists are reduced.
- Increase Alberta Mental Health and Alberta Children and Youth Services' budgets to contract accredited non-profit counselling organizations to increase the capacity of their evidence-based individual and group counselling and treatment programs in order to:
 - ensure that all Kindergarten to Grade 12 students and young adults who are identified by a parent or professional as experiencing emotional, behavioural or other mental health concerns are able to obtain evidence-supported treatment at the earliest onset of problems;
 - provide evidence-supported counselling and other treatment at the earliest possible opportunity to all children and youth who are experiencing chronic problems with bullying, dating violence or victimization; and



- o provide evidence-supported counselling and other treatment to all children and youth who have been involved in child welfare interventions, who have been the victim of child maltreatment, or who have been exposed to domestic violence.
- Provide grants to publicly funded school districts to develop or further implement evidence-based school-wide action plans to address the needs of traumatized children, especially when the school is involved in a community-wide effort to mitigate the impact of trauma caused by domestic violence.
- Develop a provincial training and capacity-building initiative to support health professionals, clinicians and other brokers of mental health services to identify and refer appropriate children for treatment as needed.
- Provide counselling for children and youth who are identified as victims in PAFVA orders.

3.0 Support the development of healthy community norms

The issue:

Cultural and social norms are defined as rules or expectations of behaviour within a specific cultural or social group. While often implicit and unspoken, cultural and social norms nonetheless determine our sense of appropriate and inappropriate behaviours, and guide what is and is not considered acceptable. Norms related to violence are perpetuated in multiple arenas, including family (through the use of corporal punishment, or witnessing violence in the family community and through the media. 129

The link between socio-cultural norms, attitudes and behaviors is strong, and research has shown an association between cultural acceptance of violence and increased risk for all types of interpersonal violence. In China and South Africa, for example, cultural norms around using physical violence as an acceptable way of resolving conflicts within a relationship contribute to high rates of domestic violence.

A similar association exists between some socio-cultural constructs of gender and increased violence against women. For instance, a U.S. study found that men who hold traditional views of women's roles are more likely to report having perpetrated dating violence. They are also more likely to accept or condone the use of violence in relationships. In its World Report on Violence and Health, the World Health Organization identifies a number of gender and cultural norms associated with increased domestic and sexual violence. For instance, "traditional beliefs that men have a right to control or discipline women through physical means makes women vulnerable to violence by intimate partners and places girls at risk of sexual abuse." Alberta still has a ways to go in cultivating equitable gender norms: Of 1,000 Alberta males surveyed in 2012, only 18 per cent received a high gender



equity score; ^{iv} 34 per cent received a low score and 48 per cent received a medium score. ¹³⁴

The *Spectrum of Prevention Model* outlines six key interventions that are needed to shift cultural and social norms. These include: influencing policy and legislation; changing organizational practices; fostering coalitions and networks; educating providers; promoting community education; and strengthening individual knowledge and skills. A key challenge for interventions aimed at changing cultural or social norms is to accommodate groups with different norms from the broader population, which means interventions often need to be customized for these specific groups. ¹³⁶

What more can be done:

Research suggests that the following strategies could help to further promote the development of non-violent community norms:

- Engage men and boys in violence prevention
- Support immigrant, refugee and temporary foreign workers to enhance healthy family and community norms.

Each of these is discussed further below.

3.1 Engage men and boys in violence prevention

Emerging research emphasizes the importance of men's roles in preventing domestic violence. Supporting men and boys to have authentic roles in violence prevention is a promising area of work that is being implemented across the globe. ¹³⁷ In a recent North American study on domestic and sexual violence, most men who were surveyed stated that they viewed themselves as having a role in violence prevention, with 78 per cent stating that they could contribute to peaceful and respectful relationships. ¹³⁸ In Alberta, 99 per cent of men surveyed in 2012 agreed that, "men can personally make a difference in promoting healthy, respectful, non-violent relationships."

Research suggests the following as promising entry points for engaging men and boys in violence prevention:

• **Fatherhood:** Positive father involvement can improve the lives of men, women and children. By expanding the role of men to include caring for children, the restrictions of traditional, narrow definitions of masculinity are deconstructed and replaced with a broader vision of the human capacity of men in family life and society in general. 141

_

^{iv} Scoring was based on responses to 10 questions related to gender roles and capacities.



- Men's Health: The dominant belief that men should be tough and take risks, combined with the notion that men do not need health-care advice, has led to increased rates of HIV, rape, mental health and self-esteem issues, as well as an increase in domestic violence—all of which have had a major impact on the lives of women and children. Mental health for men and boys must be addressed within a comprehensive, holistic framework that helps them to rediscover, direct and strengthen self-esteem and emotional intelligence. 143
- Sports and Recreational Settings: In addition to being a prime access point for engaging men, sport comprises an arena in which masculine norms are formed and enforced.¹⁴⁴ Sports and recreational activities also offer opportunities for mentoring and influencing coaches and athletes. Research shows that traditional sporting institutions can foster cultural norms and myths that promote the perpetration of violence perpetration and sexual assault.¹⁴⁵
- Peer Relationships and Networks: Peer attitudes and norms are key determinants
 of men's use of violence, particularly in the case of sexual violence. The role of
 peer relationships in violence prevention is especially important in the context of
 post-secondary settings, sports and the military. 147,148,149
- Engaging Men as Allies: There are a number of initiatives that focus on developing
 the capacity of men and boys to be "allies" with women and girls. 150,151 Some of this
 work is geared towards engaging men and boys in speaking up against inequity,
 sexism and the mistreatment of women and girls, including stepping up to prevent
 sexual harassment and assault, and speaking with other men and boys about
 violence or demeaning behaviour. 152,153
- Engaging Men in the Workplace: Men are highly represented in leadership roles in business, politics and most other fields. Employers can play an important role by sharing information, skills and motivation with employees, clients, consumers and partners to become engaged in efforts to end violence at the individual, family, community and societal level.¹⁵⁴

Research suggests that each of these areas comprise a potential entry point for engaging men and boys in violence prevention. Each strategy should be tailored to meet the needs of diverse communities, including ethno-cultural communities, immigrant or refugee communities, Aboriginal communities and LGBT2SQ (Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgendered, Two-Spirited, Queer or Questioning) populations.

What others are doing:

 MOST (Men of Strength) Clubs in the U.S. work with male high school students over a year-long period to promote healthier models of masculinity and to build skills around violence prevention. Early evaluations of the (MOST) Clubs in the U.S. have been very positive, with the U.S. Centres for Disease Controls and Prevention (CDC) designating the project a promising practice for violence prevention.¹⁵⁵ In this



model, "near peer" education (where slightly older males work with younger ones) has proven particularly effective.

- "It Starts With You. It Stays With Him" is an online, social media campaign developed by the White Ribbon Campaign and Le Centre Ontarien de Prévention des Agressions. The comprehensive website (www.itstartswithyou.ca) provides men with resources to educate the boys around them about healthy relationships, sexism, homophobia and degrading language.
- Futures Without Violence's Coaching Boys into Men (CBIM) program was launched in 2001 in the United States to engage men to use their influence to prevent domestic and sexual violence. The program expanded from a media-based campaign to a curriculum-based leadership approach for coaches and athletes. Data from a randomized controlled trial conducted with approximately 2,000 student athletes and 120 coaches showed significant increases in knowledge regarding abusive behaviours and gender-equitable attitudes, and an increase in intention to intervene on the part of participating coaches. An evaluation of the media campaign indicated that men who saw the public service announcement were more likely to identify violence against women as an important problem than those who did not. 156
- Kizhaay Anishinaabe Niin (I am a Kind Man) is a province-wide initiative led by the Ontario Federation of Indian Friendship Centres that makes use of primary, secondary and tertiary prevention strategies. The project provides an opportunity for communities to help Aboriginal men and youth understand the causes of violence and supports them in joining together to end it. Aboriginal men and youth are offered a safe place to learn their roles and responsibilities when it comes to ending violence against Aboriginal girls and women. This program recognizes the challenges that youth and men face and provides opportunities for them to reconnect to their traditional roles within families and communities. Currently there are over 30 sites in Ontario running a variety of programs as part of this initiative. These include poster and public awareness efforts, youth and adult mentoring programs, youth and adult workshops and an educator toolkit.¹⁵⁷
- The Alberta Council of Women's Shelters and the Whitemud West Minor Hockey Association in Edmonton have partnered to implement the Whitemud West Bantam Coach Training. Based on the successful, evidence-based Mentors in Violence Prevention program, the Whitemud program offers training and support to help hockey coaches integrate information and intervention practices to address violence. A training manual is also provided: The Goals for Life Off the Ice Playbook gives coaches key messages and tips for making the most of teachable moments. Evaluation results show that the project has resulted in increased awareness among coaches about the issue of violence against women, including its prevalence and how it impacts men. Coaches also recognized that they have a role to play in



- changing attitudes about violence against women, and reported that the project helped them learn new strategies to address this with their players/athletes. 158
- The Gay Men's Domestic Violence Project (GMDVP) in Massachusetts, U.S.A., was founded in 1994 by a gay male who was denied services by multiple mainstream domestic violence shelters. Its mission is to assist and support victims and survivors of domestic violence, focusing on the LGBT2SQ community to advocate for inclusive public policy and increase access to culturally competent services. The organization provides direct services and also offers education and outreach for the LGBT2SQ community, capacity building and policy advocacy for domestic violence and law enforcement professionals, organizations, legislatures and state agencies. Its strategic goals include building services for victims and survivors, increased community engagement and strengthened organizational capacity. 159

Recommendations:

- Develop and fund a provincial strategy to engage men and boys in violence prevention. The strategy should focus on cultivating male leadership and skill development around violence prevention and healthy male norms, and support research and evaluation.
- Fund and support local, evidence-informed plans to engage men and boys in violence prevention throughout the province.

3.2. Support immigrant, refugee and temporary foreign workers to enhance healthy family and community norms^v

Domestic violence is a global issue, impacting people from diverse nations, societies, economic classes, faith affiliations and ethno-cultural groups. ^{160,161,162,163} Canada is a growing hub of international and multilingual citizens. It is estimated that by 2031, over a quarter of our population will be foreign-born. ¹⁶⁴ (This is already the case in Calgary ¹⁶⁵.) Estimating the rate of domestic violence among immigrants, refugees and temporary foreign workers is challenging due to language and cultural barriers. ^{166,167} Whereas large telephone surveys have shown lower rates of spousal violence among immigrant and refugee populations, ¹⁶⁸ smaller, community-based investigations have consistently shown higher rates. ¹⁶⁹ One Canadian study found that immigrant women from developing countries have the highest prevalence of domestic violence in Canada. (Rates among

_

^v Please note: This section is limited to strategies related to immigrants, refugees and temporary foreign workers only. While some overlap exists between strategies for this group and strategies for ethno-cultural populations, this paper does not explore primary prevention within the larger context of ethno-cultural communities. A separate study on domestic violence prevention in ethno-cultural communities is currently underway. Given the importance of this area, it is recommended that the Government of Alberta develop a separate strategy with and for this population.

viFor the purposes of this paper, "immigrants" include both family class and economic class; "refugees" include all classes of refugees and "temporary foreign workers" include all other classes of non-permanent residents (e.g., live-in caregivers, Seasonal Agricultural Workers, etc.). For definitions of each of these terms, please refer to the glossary on page 43.



women who emigrated from developed countries, on the other hand, were lower than rates for Canadian-born women. ¹⁷⁰)

The social norms, practices and political climate of one's country of origin can influence and exacerbate domestic violence perpetration. The social and legal sanctioning of domestic violence varies around the globe, and many countries do not have laws designed to prevent and/or protect against domestic violence and/or child maltreatment. Research clearly demonstrates that patriarchal ideas of femininity and masculinity, traditional honour and obedience codes, normative beliefs about the proper spheres of men and women, and societal acceptance of domestic violence significantly increase the risk of perpetuation and victimization. Proper spheres of men and women, and victimization.

Issues related to resettlement and migration can also create vulnerability to abuse within immigrant and refugee communities. These issues include: the loss of traditional sources of support; lack of familiarity with rights and laws; social isolation expounded by language and cultural barriers; unemployment and poverty; and pressure or fear of exclusion by one's own cultural community for disclosing abuse or taking action to stop it. ^{174,175,176,177,178} In addition, "the interrelationship of war or state violence, forced migration, the insecurity of being in transit countries, along with the ensuing problem of intimate partner violence" can confound the experience of post-migration domestic violence. ¹⁷⁹

Many immigrants and refugees who experience domestic violence in Canada can be reluctant to leave or seek help as a result of these compounding realities. Moreover, help-seeking efforts may also be inhibited due to threats of deportation, stigma and cultural inappropriateness of existing services. Live-in caregivers, temporary foreign workers, and "mail-order brides" can be particularly vulnerable as they are often less likely to report or leave an abusive situation because of their dependent status. 185

What others are doing:

- The Ethno-Cultural Council of Calgary (ECCC) is currently piloting a community-based primary prevention initiative that builds the capacity of ethno-cultural communities to address the systemic, structural and cultural root causes of domestic violence. SHARE (Sustaining Healthy and Awesome Relationships) uses a number of strategies, including: public awareness and education; leadership training; community organizing; social mobilization and cross-sectoral collaboration. Community-based participatory action research is being used to test, explore and support effective and emerging practices that lead to primary prevention of domestic violence.
- The Muslim Family Safety Project (MFSP) was launched in London, Ontario in 2004 to address domestic violence within the Muslim community and ensure the accessibility and cultural appropriateness of services and supports in that city. This



comprehensive initiative incorporated a number of strategies, including: public education via workshops; presentations, pamphlets and articles in the Muslim local media; the engagement of local imams and community leaders to dispel myths on the position of Islam on the issue of domestic violence; family and community outreach; cultural training for mainstream agencies; and a training manual for service providers on addressing domestic violence in Muslim communities.¹⁸⁶

- A comprehensive education and community development initiative called ACCESS was developed to prevent domestic violence within the Arab-American population in Michigan. The initiative was based on data from a local, in-person survey of 202 Arab-American immigrants. These findings were used to develop and implement specific community education programs and clinic resources, including: a mass media campaign that aired on Arab radio and television stations in Michigan; three live television shows with a panel of professionals and community members; public service announcements on available services; booklets and brochures; and 22 workshops focusing on domestic violence and conflict resolution. The workshops were conducted by an outreach worker and targeted major mosques, schools, job training centres and cultural centres in the area. Evaluations suggest that the program helped to increase awareness and reduce barriers to accessing services. "Prior to the initiation of this Arab domestic violence education and prevention project, not one case of domestic violence had been identified by the cultural community health centre clinic in this area. The knowledge gained by the outreach worker, through interaction with and assessment of victims in their homes, was an important step in identifying and clarifying the problem. Since this project was initiated, 70 domestic violence clients have been identified and assisted in the health centre."187
- The 2007 Swedish Action Plan to Prevent Violence Against Women outlines policies and programs that specifically target honour-based violence. The action plan includes 56 measures covering six key areas: protection and support to victims of violence; increased focus on primary prevention, including recommendations for the National Centre for Knowledge on Men's Violence Against Women; higher standards and greater efficiency in the judicial system (including training and skills building); improved programs for violent offenders including those convicted of sexual assault and domestic violence; increased cooperation and coordination among regional and local players; and enhanced knowledge and competence through research and training. The plan includes extensive references to areas for intervention in relation to honour-based violence and forced marriages.¹⁸⁸

Recommendations:

 Adopt the recommendations put forward in Entrenching Exploitation: the Second Report of the Alberta Federation of Labour Advocate¹⁸⁹ to reduce the vulnerability



of Temporary Foreign Workers in this province. (See Appendix B for a full listing of recommendations.)

- Invest in system-wide, accredited tele-interpreter and translation services so that
 police, courts, shelters, hospitals and social service agencies throughout Alberta
 have access to reliable translators for as many languages as possible when serving
 victims of domestic violence.¹⁹⁰
- Require provincially-funded language programs to integrate information about domestic violence into the curriculum. Lobby the Government of Canada to make this a requirement for all LINC (Language Instruction for Newcomers to Canada)^{vii} programs as well.
- Support Immigration Canada to work with the Human Resources and Development Program and the Federal Labour Ministry to develop a comprehensive plan to ensure that women coming through the Live-in Caregiver plan have the same workers' rights as any other employee in any other non-domestic workplace. Furthermore, the live-in requirement should be removed to prevent vulnerability to abuse.¹⁹¹
- Work with Immigration Canada to develop socio-cultural educational programs to orient all newcomers to societal norms and legal requirements in this country. Training could happen both in the country of origin, with a session administered and staffed by Canadian citizens,¹⁹² and upon arrival, with sessions being offered by skilled staff. The goal of this training would be to educate newcomers about Canadian law, human rights and responsibilities, societal norms, gender equity and expectations around parenting. Domestic violence and child maltreatment should also be addressed through this training, including legal protections for victims, legal consequences for perpetrators and support available for victims and their children. ^{193,194,195} This program should be mandatory to ensure full participation.

4.0 Support healthy, non-violent environments

The issue:

_

"Creating supportive environments" is one of five key strategies outlined in the *Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion*, an international agreement signed at the First International Conference on Health Promotion hosted by the World Health Organization. The Charter highlights the role that natural and social environments play in health promotion. "The inextricable links between people and their environment constitutes the basis for a socio-

vii Language Instruction for Newcomers to Canada (LINC) is a language instruction program that is offered by the Government of Canada, in cooperation with local school boards, community colleges, and immigrant and community organizations.



ecological approach to health. [...] Changing patterns of life, work and leisure have a significant impact on health."¹⁹⁶

Several violence prevention frameworks have adopted this strategy, outlining the need to ensure that the environments in which people work and play support healthy, non-violent relationships. For example, in Poised for Prevention: Advancing Promising Approaches to Primary Prevention of Intimate Partner Violence, the Prevention Institute highlights the role that workplaces can play in changing attitudes and behaviours around domestic violence. "Organizational settings offer the opportunity to reach large numbers of people, proactively model healthy behaviours and offer incentives and disincentives for behaviours to shape the overall climate toward IPV [intimate partner violence] prevention." The authors go on to state that those engaged in efforts to reduce domestic violence can learn from smoking reduction efforts, where changes to work and leisure environments had a significant impact on smoking rates. "[W]hile education campaigns about the danger of smoke had little impact and smoking cessation clinics had marginal success, modest changes in restaurants and public institution environments—brought about through smoking restrictions—initiated a change in norms and engendered support for further change, including tax increases on cigarettes, which financed further efforts to influence norms, and eventual decline in smoking rates." 198

What more can be done:

In domestic violence research, two strategies emerge as particularly promising ways to create environments that support healthy, non-violent relationships:

- Foster healthy, non-violent workplaces
- Limit access to alcohol to reduce rates of violence

Each is discussed further below.

4.1 Foster healthy, non-violent workplaces

Workplaces play a role in modelling "what a healthy relationship is, what responsible bystander behaviour is, and how a variety of community stakeholders can foster healthy, non-violent community practices and norms." ¹⁹⁹ Conversely, organizational cultures that have "weak sanctions against violence" or demonstrate "strong support for the privacy of the family" can reinforce norms and behaviours associated with domestic violence. ²⁰⁰

Albertans believe that the government has a role to play in fostering healthy, non-violent workplaces. In a 2009 poll conducted by the Alberta Council of Women's Shelters, 83 per cent of respondents agreed that domestic violence that impacts the workplace should be a priority of the Government of Alberta. Public policy that supports workplace violence prevention potentially impacts attitudes and behaviours, and "sends a strong message that domestic violence is a community issue, and not simply a private concern." ²⁰²



In a 2006 Safety Bulletin, the Government of Alberta outlined policies and procedures to prevent violence and harassment in the workplace.²⁰³ The Bulletin outlines the extent of the problem and offers some guidance around policy development, intervention, follow-up, documentation, evaluation and legal options. However, the document does not outline specific strategies for preventing and addressing domestic violence. In fact, domestic violence is not mentioned at all within the document²⁰⁴, despite the fact that domestic violence has a significant impact on the workplace.²⁰⁵

What others are doing:

- In 2010, Ontario amended its Occupational Health and Safety Act to strengthen protections for workers from workplace violence and address workplace harassment. The amendments include the requirement that employers must have a policy on workplace violence that addresses violence from all possible sources, including domestic partners, and take reasonable precautions to protect workers when domestic violence "follows them" to the workplace. To assist employers in creating sound workplace policy around domestic violence, both the Occupational Health and Safety Council of Ontario and the University of Western Ontario's Centre for Research and Education on Violence against Women and Children have developed comprehensive resources for employers.
- In 2011, the Province of Manitoba amended its Workplace Safety and Health Regulations to include a requirement that all workplaces providing public services:
 1) develop a violence prevention policy;
 2) train their workers on implementing the policy;
 and 3) ensure full compliance.
- The City of Edmonton has partnered with the Alberta Council of Women's Shelters to help businesses address domestic violence in the workplace. *Family-Business Connect* is designed to "build connections between major businesses and the Alberta Council of Women's Shelters to raise awareness of domestic violence and its impact upon the workplace, the family and the community." Participating businesses are provided with tools, information and support. In turn, they make a commitment to fund and host domestic violence seminars and disseminate information about domestic violence to their employees.

Recommendations:

• Amend the Occupational Health and Safety Act, RSA 2000, c.O-2, to require employers to adopt a specific, government-sanctioned policy on workplace violence. The policy should be detailed and follow the recommendations provided by the Occupational Health and Safety Council of Ontario and the University of Western Ontario's Centre for Research and Education on Violence against Women and Children. The amendments should include a requirement that workplace violence policies addresses violence from all possible sources, including domestic



partners. Require employee assistance programs to receive periodic training in domestic violence and offer trauma-informed services.

• Support *Family-Business Connect* in Edmonton and explore opportunities to fund similar models in other cities in Alberta.

4.2 Limit access to alcohol to reduce rates of violence

Research has demonstrated a strong association between alcohol use and domestic violence, with evidence suggesting links to both increased occurrence and severity of violence.²⁰⁹ This correlation is evident in Alberta, where rates of domestic violence are the highest in the nation.²¹⁰ When liquor stores were privatized in Alberta in 1993, rates of violence involving alcohol rose dramatically, increasing from 40 per cent to 60 per cent in the year after privatization.²¹¹ Rates of spousal and non-spousal homicides involving alcohol also increased, and Alberta's rates of alcohol-related spousal and non-spousal homicide and general crime are now higher than the national average.²¹²

Availability of alcohol has also been growing in Alberta since privatization, increasing from 208 stores in 1993 to 1,240 in 2011. There are now more liquor stores in Alberta than in any province in Canada. This is significant given the association between alcohol consumption and violence. Research shows that liquor outlet density levels affect the level of alcohol consumption, which in turn impacts rates of violence.

Research also suggests that regulating the physical availability of alcohol is effective in reducing alcohol-related harm. Alcohol policies addressing access and availability include: government monopolies; minimum purchase age; limiting the density of alcohol outlets; and limiting hours of sale. Alberta has some of these policies in place, but not to the extent that other provinces do. For example, in Ontario, retail alcohol outlets close at 6 p.m. whereas, in Alberta, liquor stores are permitted to operate until 2 a.m. Alberta also has a lower legal drinking age than many of the other provinces. Strengthening policies around access to alcohol is a potentially promising way of impacting environmental factors that exacerbate domestic violence.

What others are doing:

- England has developed alcohol policies that are specifically focused on reducing domestic violence,²¹⁷ and has created a toolkit to help local communities create their own strategies for reducing alcohol-related harm.²¹⁸ As a result, many jurisdictions in England have implemented projects related to alcohol policy that focus on reducing domestic violence.²¹⁹
- The Community Trials Project (CTP) tested a five-component community intervention to reduce alcohol-related harm in California and South Carolina, including policies to reduce the number, location and concentration of alcohol outlets. The trial resulted in a significant reduction in assault rates. "[A]ssault injuries seen in emergency departments in the intervention communities declined



43 per cent compared with the rate seen in the comparison communities, and assault injuries requiring hospitalization declined by two per cent, a statistically significant drop."²²⁰

- Many jurisdictions have implemented municipal policies to control the density of alcohol outlets. In the U.S., New Jersey has some of the toughest municipal density controls. The state uses a population-based formula, allowing one off-premise licence per 7,500 municipal residents and one on-premise licence per 3,000 residents. In addition to population-based formulas, municipalities in New Jersey have distance requirements that vary from town to town, ranging from 500 feet between liquor selling establishments (with mandatory relocation for existing outlets) to 2,000 feet from entrance to entrance of establishments with the same licence. 222
- In an industrial city in Brazil, restricting the hours of alcohol sales significantly impacted homicide and assault rates. When bars and restaurants were required to stop selling alcohol between 11 p.m. and 6 a.m., the homicide rate fell by 47.4 per cent and assaults against women fell by 55 per cent. Because of the success of the policy, another 120 municipalities have now implemented similar policies.²²³
- In the 1980s, Greenland implemented an alcohol rationing system that resulted in a 58 per cent reduction in the number of police call-outs for domestic violence.

Recommendations: viii

 Review and research liquor regulations, including legal drinking age and onpremise/off-premise outlet hours, to determine whether changes to these regulations could result in decreased violence across the province.

- Amend Section 129(1) section 57(1) of the Gaming and Liquor Act (2010) to include
 a requirement stating that anyone applying for a new retail liquor outlet licence
 must notify the public of their intent. Requirements pertaining to the content,
 timing, size and duration of the notice should be stipulated.
- Work with municipalities to educate community members about the avenues available to them for voicing issues and concerns related to new alcohol licencees and alcohol outlet density in their neighbourhoods. Citizens should be encouraged to participate in alcohol liquor licence application hearings.
- Collect, analyze and update existing data about alcohol outlets using a combination of geographic- and population-based formulas. Information about liquor outlet

viii Note: Municipalities have a key role to play in reducing access to alcohol as density controls of liquor store outlets is within their purview. As this paper focused on recommendations for the Government of Alberta, recommendations for municipalities are not included here. For information on municipal strategies for reducing alcohol-related violence, please see *The Role of Alcohol Outlet Density in Reducing Domestic Violence in Alberta* (Wells, L., 2011).



density should be publicly posted by postal code so that the information can be used by citizens and community groups to challenge new applications for liquor outlets in high density areas.²²⁵

5.0 Include prevention measures in legislation and policy

The issue:

Multiple models and frameworks for prevention identify policy and legislation as a key lever for change. Policies shape the overall environment for everyone in a community and can enforce new norms, alter environmental factors and align resources toward prevention outcomes. By altering the community-level factors that affect IPV [intimate partner violence], such as the economic climate, health, neighborhood conditions and media marketing practices, policy change can help foster environments in which violence is less likely to occur. Policy and legislation indicate key priorities for governments and society, and help to direct funding to support those priorities.

Alberta has many policy frameworks that impact families and interconnect with preventing domestic violence. These include: Alberta Mental Health and Addictions Strategy; Alberta Gang Reduction Strategy; Alberta Crime Prevention Framework; Ten Year Plan to End Homelessness; as well as three emergent policy frameworks (Prevention of Bullying Strategy, Ending Child Poverty, and the Social Policy Framework). The Government of Alberta is also in the process of redesigning its Prevention of Family Violence Framework. Addressing the causes and consequences of domestic violence is the responsibility of multiple sectors, and strong intersectoral collaboration and joint planning within government is critical to preventing and reducing domestic violence in Alberta.

What more can be done:

Based on a review of domestic violence legislation and policy worldwide, Alberta legislation and policy frameworks can be strengthened by:

- Including primary prevention measures in domestic violence-related legislation and policy frameworks
- Expanding the definition of family violence to include dating relationships, as well as emotional and financial abuse

Each of these is explored further below.

5.1 Include primary prevention in domestic violence-related legislation and policy

Alberta's *Protection Against Family Violence Act* focuses on protecting victims of domestic violence from further violence. However, the act does not include an explicit focus on addressing the antecedents or root causes of domestic violence in order to prevent it from happening in the first place. Alberta already has a unique piece of legislation that specifically focuses on primary and secondary prevention: the *Family and Community Support Services (FCSS) Act* establishes a funding partnership between the Government of



Alberta and participating municipalities and Métis settlements to fund services that are "of a preventive nature that enhances the social well-being of individuals and families through promotion or intervention strategies provided at the earliest opportunity" (Section 2.1(1)(a)). A groundbreaking act, FCSS legislation ensures that preventive services are funded throughout Alberta.

This strong emphasis on prevention could also be reflected in the *Protection Against Family Violence Act* to further signal the importance of addressing the root causes of domestic violence in order to stop it from happening in the first place. The act could be strengthened in two ways: First, the word "prevention" could be added to the title to indicate the importance of coupling "protection" and intervention with primary prevention efforts. Second, the act's preamble could be strengthened by adding a focus on primary prevention. Increasingly, preambles are used in legislation as a way to communicate intent and articulate the values and aspirations that underlie the legislation. Emphasizing the importance of primary prevention in an act designed to address domestic violence is an important way to influence the discourse around this issue in Alberta. By including a focus on primary prevention in the *Protection Against Family Violence Act*, the Government of Alberta sends a clear message to the larger community that domestic violence *can* be prevented, and that prevention is a key priority on the public agenda.

What others are doing:

- Domestic violence legislation in some jurisdictions in Canada, the United States and countries around the world include the word "prevention" in their titles; however, primary prevention is not reflected in the content or preamble of any of these statutes.
- Out of 19 national, provincial and/or state Domestic Violence/Family Violence/Violence Against Women policy frameworks/action plans identified throughout the world, six included primary prevention research and initiatives. These are:
 - Alaska: Alaska's plan stipulates that, by 2014, health education standards will be adopted that promote healthy relationships in accordance with evidence-based guidelines for kindergarten to grade 12.²²⁹
 - Australia: As part of its larger Violence Against Women Action Plan, one of the strategies articulated was the development of a national primary prevention framework that prioritizes key settings and population groups in which to coordinate primary prevention activities. In addition to this, a number of other policies have been developed to prevent violence, such as implementation of healthy relationship education into the national curriculum.²³⁰
 - New Zealand: New Zealand's plan focuses on the promotion of a healthy public policy aimed at reducing inequality and socio-economic disparities.²³¹



- Newfoundland: As part of its policy and legislation strategy, the provincial government proposes that the Department of Education implement healthy relationship, anti-violence and diversity training into its provincial curriculum.²³²
- Turkey: As part of its improved legislation and policy to address gender inequality, Turkey has identified the need to ensure the legal arrangements on parental leave so to portion out the child-care responsibilities between the mother and father (as per the European Union directives).²³³
- Wales: Wales has implemented policies that oppose corporal punishment of children, and has developed a Parenting Action Plan to further this specific agenda.²³⁴

Recommendations:

- Strike a committee to review existing legislation (including the Protection Against Family Violence Act, the Child, the Youth and Family Enhancement Act, and the Family and Community Support Services Act) to identify ways to strengthen primary prevention measures in order to reduce the prevalence and incidence of domestic violence in Alberta.
- Amend the Protection Against Family Violence Act to explicitly include a focus on primary prevention in the preamble. The title of the act should also be amended to include the word "prevention."
- Review all relevant Government of Alberta policy frameworks to identify ways to strengthen primary prevention of domestic violence across ministries.
- Include primary prevention policies and initiatives in the redesign of the Government of Alberta Family Violence Framework.

5.2 Expand the definition of family violence in legislation to include dating relationships, as well as emotional and financial abuse

Some of the definitions provided in Alberta's *Protection Against Family Violence Act* are too narrow to support effective primary prevention of domestic violence. For example, the protections afforded by the act apply only to *family members*, who, as defined by the act, include "current and former common-law spouses, parents, children, persons who reside together where one of the persons has care and custody over the other, and persons who are related to each other by blood, marriage or adoption or by virtue of an adult interdependent relationship" (section 1(1)(d)). This definition excludes persons who are or have been in dating or other intimate relationships in which domestic violence also occurs. Another key limitation of the *Protection Against Family Violence Act* is that it does not



define "family violence" to include financial and emotional or psychological abuse, all of which are recognized and prevalent forms of abuse.

What others are doing:

- Manitoba includes dating relationships in its family/domestic violence legislation, sending a message that dating violence is not tolerated (see the *Domestic Violence* and Stalking Prevention, Protection and Compensation Act, CCSM c D93, section 2(1)(d).)
- In its domestic violence legislation, Nunavut's definition of "family violence" includes emotional and financial abuse. This helps to send the message that these forms of abuse are not tolerated (see the *Family Abuse Intervention Act*, SNu 2006, c 18, section 3(1)(e), (f), (g)).

Recommendations:

- Amend Alberta's Protection Against Family Violence Act to include dating relationships in the definition of "family violence" (section 1(1)(d)) and to allow Emergency Protection Orders (EPOs), Queen's Bench Protection Orders (QBPOs) and related orders for no contact, counselling, etc. to be made in the context of dating relationships.
- Amend the Protection Against Family Violence Act to expand the definition of "family violence" to include emotional and financial abuse (section 1(1)(e)), and to allow EPOs, QBPOs and related orders for no contact, counselling, etc. to be made in these circumstances.

6.0 Establish a comprehensive system for collecting data and monitoring domestic violence in Alberta

The issue:

Lack of consistent information about the number of women, men and children affected by domestic violence constrains primary prevention of domestic violence in at least three ways: 1) it contributes to an inability to gauge the magnitude of domestic violence in relation to other health problems; 2) it limits the ability to identify the most at-risk populations that might benefit from focused interventions or increased service provision; and 3) it hinders the ability to monitor the incidence and prevalence of domestic violence which, in turn, restricts the potential to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of prevention and intervention strategies.²³⁵

Lack of accurate data about the prevalence, incidence and etiology of domestic violence has also limited the nature and scope of prevention initiatives. This is exacerbated by a



dearth of quality evaluation data. Prevention of domestic violence requires a sound understanding of what works, when, and for whom. ²³⁶

What more can be done:

Research suggests that the following strategies could help to improve domestic violence monitoring and surveillance in Alberta:

- Develop a robust data collection system to more accurately track prevalence of domestic violence across Alberta
- Develop an integrated and outcomes-based management and accountability framework that supports research, evaluation and continuous improvement

Each of these is discussed further below.

6.1 Develop a robust data collection system to more accurately track prevalence of domestic violence across Alberta

Health policy research calls for the systematic collection of information to support the creation, testing and implementation of prevention strategies directed at domestic violence. ²³⁷ In addition to incidence, prevalence, morbidity and mortality data, information should be gathered on the cost-effectiveness of prevention strategies so that policy-makers have the information they need to allocate resources to strategies that actually move the needle on domestic violence. ²³⁸

In addition to accurate counts and estimates of the incidence and prevalence of domestic violence, economists and policy analysts argue that there needs to be an emphasis on gathering of consistent and uniform information about the myriad services and supports used by both perpetrators and victims of domestic violence. The gathering of this information helps to highlight the associated costs of domestic violence—costs that could be reduced through effective primary prevention strategies.

What others are doing:

• In Canada, Statistics Canada's General Social Survey, Victimization, gathers data on violence against women and children on five-year cycle. The Victimization Survey captures Canadians' personal experiences of eight offence types, examines risk factors associated with victimization, examines reporting rates to police, measures the nature and extent of spousal violence, measures fear of crime, and examines public perceptions of crime and the criminal justice system. However, the survey findings are limited in that the sampling sizes do not always allow for in-depth analysis of all the data at the local level and some analysis is not possible at the provincial level. In addition, the survey is only administered every five years.



- At least 40 states in the U.S. have adopted the Youth Behavioural Risk Survey developed by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) to determine risk behaviours among high school student populations. The findings are used by the CDC, state and district governments, and individual schools to monitor changes in behaviours and develop school-based violence prevention and intervention strategies.²⁴²
- In 2010, the U.S. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Division of Violence Prevention, launched the National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey, an annual study that will gather information on: the prevalence and characteristics of sexual violence, stalking and domestic violence; who is most likely to experience these forms of violence; the patterns and impact of the violence experienced by specific perpetrators; and the health consequences of these forms of violence.
- Since 2000, the Danish National Institute of Public Health has documented trends in gender-based violence in Denmark using a database that is designed to capture information about the profile of victims, the profile of perpetrators, supports provided to victims, interventions for perpetrators, training of professionals, state measures to eliminate violence against women, and evaluation data.

Recommendations:

- Develop a minimum data set with standards, definitions and collecting and reporting protocols for police, health, education, justice, child welfare, shelters and other service providers in the community.
- Establish a partnership with relevant research institutions to develop the required research protocols for those components of the *Prevention of Family Violence and Bullying Initiative* that require longitudinal analysis.
- Administer an enhanced version of the General Social Survey on Victimization to Albertans every five years. The enhanced survey would sample sufficient Albertans to allow for deep analysis of data from the larger municipalities and provide more comprehensive prevalence and incidence data for the entire province. The survey could be supplemented with additional variables to capture dating violence, bullying, child marriage, female genital mutilation and sex trafficking, and include a larger sample of adolescent respondents (the existing survey is administered to individuals aged 15 years and over).
- Review the *Albertans' Perceptions of Family Violence and Bullying Survey*²⁴⁴ to ensure that the data collected can help to inform the policy and strategy around the prevention of domestic violence.
- Mandate the collection of demographic data to be collected in all PAFVA applications and hearings, and in all domestic violence cases that are investigated,



prosecuted and heard in provincial courts, in order to gather statistics on domestic violence and assess how the justice system is responding to domestic violence in the province for particular groups and persons (e.g., immigrants and refugees, Aboriginals, persons with disabilities, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgendered, Two-Spirited, Queer or Questioning (LGBT2SQ) etc.)

6.2 Develop an integrated and outcomes-based management and accountability framework that supports research, evaluation and continuous improvement

The need for appropriate and ongoing monitoring and evaluation of domestic violence prevention plans has been identified as a key component to the establishment, success and sustainability of domestic violence prevention efforts. This ongoing and purposeful monitoring is essential for both accountability and course-correction over time. A comprehensive evaluation captures the process of implementation as well as the actual outcome measures in order to tell the complete story of how the plan was implemented and whether or not the outcomes from the plan were met. Plan wer

What others are doing:

- In 2007, the Family Violence Initiative (FVI), led by the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC), implemented an umbrella *Results-based Management and Accountability Framework* (RMAF) to support measurement and reporting on outcomes throughout the lifecycle of the initiative. The RMAF includes a logic model which outlines immediate outcomes (e.g., expanded inventory of accessible information and resources), intermediate outcomes (e.g., increased capacity of stakeholders/communities to respond to domestic violence issues), and the ultimate outcome of "contribution to the reduction of family violence in Canada." The findings of the first report (released in 2010) were based on performance information provided to the Public Health Agency of Canada by member departments against the outcomes specified in the RMAF. Within the report, evaluation results of specific activities and/or programs are also detailed.²⁴⁷
- The Danish National Institute of Public Health has documented trends in gender-based violence in Denmark since 2000. In 2007, it released a report entitled Men's Violence Against Women: Extent, Characteristics and the Measures Against Violence—2007. This report details not only current trends and rates of prevalence and incidence, it also identifies the measures taken by the Danish government to address the seven European Union indicators as agreed upon by the single members states. The 2007 report detailed the nature and extent of domestic violence, and provided information on the measures and methods implemented by the state to address this significant social issue.
- The National Council's Plan of Action (Australia) has identified the need for ongoing monitoring and accountability of its 2012–2021 plan to reduce violence against women and their children.²⁴⁹ In order to ensure that this happens, they have



proposed the development of a centralized and independent body (the National Center of Excellence for the Prevention of Violence Against Women) to lead and coordinate monitoring and accountability efforts. In addition to ensuring the evaluation, monitoring and review of the national plan, the National Council also envisions that the center will: 1) provide a national resource for the development of policy and benchmarks; 2) develop and promote "gold standard" practices to reduce violence against women and their children; and 3) establish alliances with international observatories to grow and expand the nation's knowledge base in this issue.

Recommendations:

- Develop an integrated outcomes-based management and accountability framework to track the performance and outcomes associated with the implementation of best practice programs and strategies identified in the framework to prevent domestic violence. Outcomes should be measured within the context of provincial trends, drawing on data from various systems including police, health, education, child welfare, shelters (as per the recommendation in 6.1, above.)
- Identify or create an independent, centralized body that could not only lead and coordinate monitoring and accountability efforts, but also help to document and promote "gold standard" practices in the prevention of domestic violence.
- Invest in research and evaluation to identify promising practices and to integrate learnings into practice and policy.



Conclusion

"We are still standing on the brink of the river, rescuing people who are drowning. We have not gone to the head of the river to keep them from falling in. That is the 21st century task." – Gloria Steinem

Over the past two decades, Alberta has made significant gains in developing a solid crisis-response model for domestic violence. However, the negative social, health and economic impacts of domestic violence are far too great to limit our focus to intervening only *after* violence has occurred. Similar efforts must now be made to implement an equally robust model for the *prevention* of domestic violence in this province. By making prevention a priority and leading the way with evidence-informed policy, legislation and resource allocation, the Government of Alberta can play a pivotal role in significantly reducing and ultimately ending domestic violence in Alberta.

Because of the scale and complexity of domestic violence, prevention requires a multi-faceted, comprehensive and long-term approach. Research suggests that the following areas are key levers for change: 1) preventing violence against children in the home; 2) supporting the development of healthy relationship skills among young people; 3) supporting the development of healthy community norms; 4) supporting the development of healthy, non-violent environments; 5) enacting legislation and policy that places a strong emphasis on prevention; and 6) developing robust mechanisms for data collection, monitoring, accountability and continuous improvement. By targeting these six areas with resources, leadership and political support, the Government of Alberta can help to end domestic violence in this province, laying the foundation for a safer, more just Alberta. This is the work of the 21st century, and Alberta is poised to lead the way.



Glossary of Terms

Domestic violence: "The attempt, act or intent of someone within a relationship, where the relationship is characterized by intimacy, dependency or trust, to intimidate either by threat or by the use of physical force on another person or property. The purpose of the abuse is to control and/or exploit through neglect, intimidation, inducement of fear or by inflicting pain. Abusive behaviour can take many forms including, verbal, physical, sexual, psychological, emotional, spiritual, economic and the violation of rights. All forms of abusive behaviour are ways in which one human being is trying to have control and/or exploit or have power over another." Although domestic violence impacts both genders, the violence perpetrated against women tends to be more severe than violence perpetrated against men. ²⁵¹

Evidence-based: The term evidence-based was first developed in the sphere of medicine and was defined as "integration of best research evidence with clinical expertise and patient values." In the context of social programs, services and supports, "evidence-based" refers to the use of high-quality evidence (e.g., randomized controlled trials) to develop, test and modify programs and services so that they are achieving the outcomes they are intended to achieve.

Gender-Based Approach: "Policies, programs and initiatives are assessed based on gender in order to respond to the different situations and experiences of women and men and boys and girls." ²⁵³

Immigrant: "Persons residing in Canada who were born outside of Canada, excluding temporary foreign workers, Canadian citizens born outside Canada and those with student or working visas." ²⁵⁴

Intimate partners: "Opposite-sex or same-sex partners' in current and former dating relationships, current and former common-law relationships, current and former married relationships, and persons who are the parents of one or more children, regardless of their marital status or whether they have lived together at any time." ²⁵⁵

On- and Off-Premise Liquor Outlets: At an on-premise outlet, alcohol is bought and consumed on premise. At an off-premise outlet, alcohol that is purchased must be consumed off the premises.

Primary prevention: Primary prevention in this context means reducing the number of new instances of domestic violence by intervening before any violence has occurred. Primary prevention "relies on identification of the underlying, or 'upstream', risk and protective factors for intimate-partner violence and/or sexual violence, and action to address those factors."²⁵⁶

Refugee: "A person who is outside of his or her country of nationality and has a well-founded fear of persecution for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership in a



particular social group or political opinion, and who is unable or, because of that fear, unwilling to seek the protection of that country." 257

Temporary Foreign Worker: "A foreign national who has been authorized to enter and remain in Canada, on a temporary basis, as a worker." 258



Endnotes

¹ See, for example, Tutty, L.; Koshan, J.; Jesso, D.; Nixon, K. 2005. *Alberta's Protection Against Family Violence Act: A Summative Evaluation. Final Report.* (Calgary, AB: University of Calgary, RESOLVE).

² See, for example, Moore, K.A.; Whitney, C.; Kinkawa, A. 2009. *Exploring the Links Between Family Strengths and Adolescent Outcomes*. Child Trends Research Brief #2009-20. (Washington, DC: Child Trends); Aufseeser, D.; Jekielek, S.; Brown, B. 2006. *The Family Environment and Adolescent Well-Being: Exposure to Positive and Negative Family Influences*. (Washington, D.C.: Child Trends; and San Francisco, CA: National Adolescent Health Information Center, University of California, San Francisco); Aufseeser, D.; Jekielek, S.; Brown, B. 2006. Benson, M. 2004. "Parent-adolescent relations and adolescent functioning: Self-esteem, substance abuse, and delinquency." *Adolescence*, 39(155), 519-530; Hoghughi, M. 1998. "The importance of parenting in child health." *British Medical Journal*, 316, 1545–1550.

³ See, for example, Wood, S.L.; Sommers, M.S. 2011. "Consequences of intimate partner violence on child witnesses: A systematic review of the literature." *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*, 24(4), 223-236; Temcheff, C.E.; *et al.* 2008. "Continuity and pathways from aggression in childhood to family violence in adulthood: A 30-year longitudinal study." *Journal of Family Violence*, 23(4) 231-242; Ehrensaft, M.K.; *et al.* 2003. "Intergenerational transmission of partner violence: A 20-year prospective study." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 71(4), 741-753; Whitfield, C.L.; *et al.* 2003. "Violent childhood experiences and the risk of intimate partner violence in adults: Assessment in a large health maintenance organization." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 18(2), 166-185.

⁴ See, for example, Feldan, C.M. 200 Gewirtz, A.; Edelson, J.L. 2004. "Toward a developmental risk and resilience framework for research and intervention." Paper #6, Early Childhood, Domestic Violence, and Poverty: Helping Young Children and Their Families. (Iowa City, Iowa: School of Social Work, University of Iowa).

⁵Durlauf S.N.; Blume L.E. 2008. *New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics, Second Edition*. London, Macmillan.

⁶ World Health Organization. 2002. *World Report on Violence and Health,* Geneva. Available at http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world_report/en/

⁷ See, for example, Sierra Systems Consultants Inc. 2006. *Women's Emergency Shelter Program Review: Final Report*. Prepared for Alberta Children's Services. Available at http://www.acws.ca/documents/womensemergencyshelterprogramreview2006.pdf; Alberta Council of Women's Shelters. 2004. *ACWS Position on Supports for Independence (SFI)*. Available at http://www.acws.ca/documents/ACWSPOSITIONONSFI.pdf.

⁸ Statistics Canada. 2011. "Violent victimization of Aboriginal women in the Canadian provinces, 2009." Available at http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-002-x/2011001/article/11439-eng.htm

⁹ In Canada, exposure to domestic violence was the primary category of abuse in 34% of maltreatment investigations in 2008. See: Public Health Agency of Canada. *Canadian Incidence Study of Reported Child Abuse and Neglect – 2008: Major Findings*. Ottawa, 2010. Available at http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/ncfv-cnivf/pdfs/nfnts-cis-2008-rprt-eng.pdf

¹⁰ See, for example, Maas, C. Herrenkohl, T.I.; Sousa, C. 2008. "Review of research on child maltreatment and violence in youth." *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 9(1), 56-67; Baldry, A.C. 2003. "Bullying in schools and exposure to intimate partner violence." *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 27, 713–732.

¹¹ See, for example, Coohey, C. 2004." Battered mothers who physically abuse their children." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 9(8), 943–952; Margolin, G.; *et al.* 2003. "The co-occurrence of husband-to-wife aggression, family-of-origin aggression, and child abuse potential in a community sample: Implications for parenting." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 18(4), 413–440.

¹² See, for example, Devaney, J. 2008. "Chronic child abuse and intimate partner violence: Children and families with long-term and complex needs." *Child & Family Social Work*, 13, 443-453; Herrenkohl, T.I.; Herrenkohl, R.C. 2007. "Examining the overlap and prediction of multiple forms of child maltreatment, stressors, and socioeconomic status: A longitudinal analysis of youth outcomes." *Journal of Family Violence*, 22, 553-562; Guille, L. 2004. "Men who batter and their children: An integrated review." *Aggression and Violent Behaviour*, 9, 129–163; Whitefield, C.L.; *et al.* 2003. "Violent childhood experiences and the risk of intimate partner violence in adults: Assessment in a large health maintenance organization."



Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 18(2), 166–185; Heyman, R.E.; Slep, A.M. 2002. "Do child abuse and inter-parental violence lead to adulthood family violence?" *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 64, 864-870.

¹³ Whitfield C.L.; *et al.* 2003. "Violent childhood experiences and the risk of intimate partner violence in adults: Assessment in a large health maintenance organization." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 18(2), 166–185.

¹⁴ Maas, C. Herrenkohl, T.I.; Sousa, C. 2008. "Review of research on child maltreatment and violence in youth." *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse,* 9(1), 56-67.

¹⁵ Gershoff, E.T. 2010. "More harm than good: A summary of scientific research on the intended and unintended effects of corporal punishment on children." *Law and Contemporary Problems*, 73, 31-46.

¹⁶ See, for example, Bower-Russa, M.E.; Knutson, J.F.; Winebarger, A. 2001. "Disciplinary history, adult dispciplianry attitudes, and risk for abusive parenting." *Journal of Community Psychology*, 29(3), 219-240.

¹⁷ Graham-Bermann, S. A.; Brescoll, V. 2000. "Gender, power and violence: Assessing the family stereotypes of the children of batterers." *Journal of Family Psychology*, 14(4), 600–612.

¹⁸ See, for example, Levendosky, A.A.; Huth-Bocks, A.C.; Semel, M.A. 2002. "Adolescent peer relationships and mental health functioning in families with intimate partner violence." *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, *31*(2), 206–218.

¹⁹ Goldblatt, H. 2003. "Strategies of coping among adolescents experiencing interparental violence." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 18(2), 532–552.

²⁰ Straus, M.A. 2001. Beating the devil out of them: Corporal punishment in American families and its effects on children. (New Brunswick, NJ, US: Transaction Publishers).

²¹ Gershoff, E.T. 2010. "More harm than good: A summary of scientific research on the intended and unintended effects of corporal punishment on children." *Law and Contemporary Problems*, 73, 31-46.

²² Gamez-Guadix, M.; *et al.* 2010. "Corporal punishment and long-term behavior problems: The moderating rold of positive parenting and psychological aggression." *Psicothema*, 22(4), 529-536; Straus, M.A. 2008. "The special issue on prevention of violence ignores the primordial violence." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 23, 1314-1320; Gámez-Guadix, M.; Straus, M.A. 2008. Childhood and adolescent victimization and sexual coercion and assault by male and female university students. (Durham, NH: Family Research Laboratory, University of New Hampshire); Grogan-Kaylor, A. 2004. "The effect of corporal punishment on antisocial behavior in children." *Social Work Research*, 28, 153-162.

²³ Leary, C.E.; *et al.* 2008. "Parental use of physical punishment as related to family environment, psychological well-being, and personality in undergraduates." *Journal of Family Violence*, 23(1), 1-7; Turner, H.A; Muller, P.A. 2004. "Long-term effects of child corporal punishment on depressive symptoms in young adults: Potential moderators and mediators." *Journal of Family Issues*, 25, 761-782;

²⁴ Strauss, M.A. 1999. "Corporal punishment of children and adult depression and suicidal ideation." In Joan McCord (Ed.), *Coercion and Punishment in Long-term Perspective*, pp. 67-68. (Cambridge, MA: Cambridge university Press).

²⁵ Gershoff, E.T. 2002. "Corporal punishment by parents and associated child behaviors and experiences: A meta-analytic and theoretical review." *Psychological Bulletin, 128*, 539-579.

²⁶ Cast, A.D.; et al. 2006. "Childhood physical punishment and problem solving in marriage." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 21, 244-254; Lackey, C. 2003. "Violent family heritage: The transition to adulthood and later partner violence." *Journal of Family Issues*, 24, 74-85.

²⁷ Gershoff, E.T.; Bitensky, S.H. 2007. "The cases against corporal punishment of children: Converging evidence from social science research and international human rights law and implications for U.S. public policy." Psychology, Public Policy and Law, 13, 231-

²⁸ Durrant, JE. Public attitudes toward corporal punishment in Canada. In Family Violnece Against Children. D. Freshee, W. Horn, & K.D. Bussmann, Editors. 1996. New York, NY: Walter de Guyter p. 19-26.

²⁹ Durrant, J.E.; Ensom, R.; Coalition on Physical Punishment of Children and Youth. 2004. *Joint Statement on Physical Punishment of Children and Youth*. (Ottawa, ON: Coalition on Physical Punishment of Children and Youth). Available at: http://www.cpha.ca/uploads/progs//safeschools/joint statement e.pdf



- ³⁰ Zolotor, A.J.; Puzia, M.E. 2010. "Bans against corporal punishment: a systematic review of the laws, changes in attitudes and behaviours." *Child Abuse Review*, 19(4), 229-247. See also Durrant, J.E. 2008. "Physical punishment, culture, and rights: Current issues for professionals." *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 29, 55-66; Hart, S.N.; *et al*. 2005. *Eliminating Corporal Punishment: The Way Forward to Constructive Child Discipline*. (Paris, France: UNESCO Publishing).
- ³¹ Durrant, J.E.; Ensom, R.; Coalition on Physical Punishment of Children and Youth. 2004. *Joint Statement on Physical Punishment of Children and Youth*. (Ottawa, ON: Coalition on Physical Punishment of Children and Youth). Available at: http://www.cpha.ca/uploads/progs/_/safeschools/joint_statement_e.pdf
- ³² See, for example, *Partnering with Parents*. Available at: http://www.instituteforsafefamilies.org/materials.php
- ³³ Föräldrabalk [FB] Code Relating to Parents, Guardians, and Children, 1979. https://wcd.coe.int/ViewDoc.jsp?id=1008209
- ³⁴ See, for example, Fallon, B.; *et al.* 2011. "Characteristics of young parents investigated and opened for ongoing services in child welfare." *International Journal of Mental Health Addiction*, 9(4), 365-381; Lee, Y. 2009. "Early motherhood and harsh parenting: The role of human, social, and cultural capital." *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 33(9), 625-637; Hoffman, S.D. 2006. *By the Numbers: The Public Costs of Adolescent Childbearing*. (Washington, DC: The National Campaign to Prevent Teen Pregnancy); Zelenko, M.A.; *et al.* 2001. "Poor adolescent expectant mothers: Can we assess their potential for child abuse?" *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 29, 271-278; Barber, J.S.; Axinn, W.G.; Thornton, A. 1999. "Unwanted childbearing, health, and mother-child relationships." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 40, 231-257.
- ³⁵ See, for example, Fallon, B.; *et al.* 2011. "Characteristics of young parents investigated and opened for ongoing services in child welfare." *International Journal of Mental Health Addiction*, 9(4), 365-381; Lee, Y. 2009. "Early motherhood and harsh parenting: The role of human, social, and cultural capital." *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 33(9), 625-637; Hoffman, S.D. 2006. *By the Numbers: The Public Costs of Adolescent Childbearing*. (Washington, DC: The National Campaign to Prevent Teen Pregnancy); Zelenko, M.A.; *et al.* 2001. "Poor adolescent expectant mothers: Can we assess their potential for child abuse?" *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 29, 271-278; Barber, J.S.; Axinn, W.G.; Thornton, A. 1999. "Unwanted childbearing, health, and mother-child relationships." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 40, 231-257.
- ³⁶ Cunnington A.J. 2001. "What's so bad about teenage pregnancy?" *Journal of Family Planning and Reproductive Health Care*, 27(1), 36-41; Federal/Provincial/Territorial Advisory Committee on Population Health. 1999. *Statistical Report on the Health of Canadians*. (Ottawa, ON: Health Canada). See also Ambert, A-M. 2006. *One-Parent Families: Characteristics, Causes, Consequences, and Issues*. (Ottawa, ON: Vanier Institute of the Family).
- ³⁷ Sidebotham, P.; Heron, J.; ALSPAC Study Team. 2003. "Child maltreatment in the 'children of the nineties': The role of the child." *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 27(3), 337–352.
- ³⁸ (Based on 2007 statistics). Alberta Health Services. 2010. Get the Facts On... Teen Pregnancy, Sexually Transmitted Infections (STI), HIV and AIDS, and Teen Sexuality. Sexual and Reproductive Health.
- ³⁹ Kohler, P.K.; Manhart, L.E. Lafferty, W.E. 2008. Abstinence-Only and Comprehensive Sex Education and the Initiation of Sexual Activity and Teen Pregnancy. Journal of Adolescent Health. 42(4): 344-351. Available at http://www.iahonline.org/article/S1054-139X(07)00426-0/abstract
- ⁴⁰ Alberta Learning. 2002. *Health and Life Skills Kindergarten to Grade 9*. Available at http://education.alberta.ca/media/313382/health.pdf; Alberta Health Services, teachingsexualhealth.ca. 2011. *Curriculum Overview*. Available at http://www.teachingsexualhealth.ca/teacher/howtoteach/curriculumoverview.html
- ⁴¹ Alberta Learning. 2002. Career and Life Management. Available at http://education.alberta.ca/media/313385/calm.pdf
- ⁴² Section 11.1 of the *Alberta Human Rights Act*, RSA 2000, c.A-25.5, states: "A board as defined in the School Act shall provide notice to a parent or guardian of a student where courses of study, educational programs or instructional materials, or instruction or exercises, prescribed under that Act include subject-matter that deals primarily and explicitly with religion, human sexuality or sexual orientation. (2) Where a teacher or other person providing instruction, teaching a course of study or educational program or using the instructional materials referred to in subsection (1) receives a written request signed by a parent or guardian of a student that the student be excluded from the instruction, course of study, educational program or use of instructional materials, the teacher or other person shall in accordance with the request of the parent or guardian and without academic penalty permit the student (a) to leave the classroom or place where the instruction, course of study or educational program is taking place or the instructional materials are being used for the



duration of the part of the instruction, course of study or educational program, or the use of the instructional materials, that includes the subject-matter referred to in subsection (1), or (b) to remain in the classroom or place without taking part in the instruction, course of study or educational program or using the instructional materials. (3) This section does not apply to incidental or indirect references to religion, religious themes, human sexuality or sexual orientation in a course of study, educational program, instruction or exercises or in the use of instructional material." Available at: http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/Acts/A25P5.pdf See also:

http://www.education.alberta.ca/media/6542444/guidetoed 2011-2012.pdf

⁴³ See http://www.teachingsexualhealth.ca/teacher/resources/regionalresources.html

⁴⁴ United Nations Statistics Division. 2006. *Demographic Yearbook 2006*. (New York, NY: United Nations).

⁴⁵ Trenholm, C.; et al. 2007. Impacts of Four Title V, Section 1510 Abstinence Education Programs: Final Report. (Trenton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research Inc.)

⁴⁶ DeCenso, A.; *et al.* 2002. "Interventions to reduce unintended pregnancies among adolescents: Systematic review of controlled trials." *British Medical Journal*, 324, 1426-

⁴⁷ Kirby, D. 2007. *Emerging Answers: Research Findings on Programs to Reduce Teen Pregnancy*. (Washington, DC: National Campaign to Prevent Teen Pregnancy).

⁴⁸ See The Library of Congress. Bill Summary and Status, 112th Congress (2011-2012), H.R. 2678 and S. 1437. Available at http://thomas.loc.gov/cgi-bin/bdquery/z?d112:h2678, accessed March 5, 2012; H.R. 2678: Communities of Color Teenage Pregnancy Prevention Act of 2011. Available at http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=h112-2678, accessed March 5, 2012.

⁴⁹ Teenage pregnancy strategy: beyond 2010, http://www.education.gov.uk/consultations/downloadableDocs/4287_Teenage%20pregnancy%20strategy_aw8.pdf

⁵⁰ Health Canada. 2008. Canadian Guidelines for Sexual Health Education. Available at http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/cgshe-ldnemss/index-eng.php

⁵¹ See, for example, Mersky, J.P.; Berger, L.M; Reynolds, A.J; Gromoske, A.N. 2009. "Risk factors for child and adolescent maltreatment: A longitudinal investigation of a cohort of inner-city youth." *Child Maltreatment*, 14(1), 73-88.

⁵² See, for example, Phelan, K.; Khoury, J.; Atherton, H.; Kahn, R.S. 2007. "Maternal depression, child behavior, and injury." *Injury Prevention*. 13, 403-408.

⁵³ See, for example, Carter, V.; Meyers, M.R. 2007. "Exploring the risks of substantiated physical neglect related to poverty and parental characteristics: A national sample." *Children and Youth Services Review*, 29, 110–121; Nicholson, J.; Sweeney, E.M.; Geller, J.L. 1998. "Mothers with mental illness, II: Family relationships and the context of parenting." *Psychiatric Services*, 49, 643–649; Leventhal, A.; Jacobsen, T.; Miller, T.; Quintana, E. 2004. "Caregiving attitudes and at-risk maternal behavior among mothers with major mental illness." *Psychiatric Services*, 55(12), 1431-1433.

⁵⁴See, for example, Carter, V.; Meyers, M.R. 2007. "Exploring the risks of substantiated physical neglect related to poverty and parental characteristics: A national sample." *Children and Youth Services Review*, 29, 110–121; Donahue, B. 2004. "Coexisting child neglect and drug abuse in young mothers: Specific recommendations for treatment based on a review of the outcome literature." *Behavior Modification*, 28(2), 206-233; Pihl, R.O.; *et al.* 1998. *Alcohol and Parenting: The Effects of Maternal Heavy Drinking*. W-98-27E. (Ottawa, ON: Human Resources Development Canada); Flint, M; Hickey, E. 1997. *Children of Drug Addicted Parents*. (Halifax: Mainline Needle Exchange).

⁵⁵ See, for example, Fang, X.; Corso, P.S. 2007. "Child maltreatment, youth violence, and intimate partner violence." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 33(4), 281-290.

⁵⁶ See, for example, Renner, L.M.; Slack, K.S. 2006. "Intimate partner violence and child maltreatment: Understanding the intragenerational and intergenerational connections.". *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 30, 599-617; Dong, M.; *et al*. 2004. "The interrelatedness of multiple forms of childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction." *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 28, 771-784.

⁵⁷ Herrenkohl, T.I.; *et al.* 2008. "Intersection of child abuse and children's exposure to intimate partner violence." *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse,* 9, 84-89.



⁵⁸ Trocmé, N.; et al. 2010. Canadian Incidence of Reported Child Abuse and Neglect 2008: Major Findings. (Ottawa, ON: Public Health Agency of Canada).

- ⁶¹ Borrowing from the U.S. *Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act*, evidence-based home visitation programs are those which: (i) employ professional staff such as nurses or social workers; (ii) are associated with a national organization or institution of higher education that has comprehensive home visitation program standards that ensure high quality service delivery and continuous program quality improvement; and (iii) demonstrate fidelity to a home visitation model that has been in existence for at least three years; has been evaluated using a well-designed and rigorous randomized controlled trial (RCT) and the evaluation results have been published in a peer-reviewed journal; and for which, one or more RCT evaluations have demonstrated significant and sustained positive child abuse and intimate partner violence outcomes.
- ⁶² A maximum of 60 home visits are conducted by nurses over two years, beginning in the prenatal period. Nurses follow a detailed, visit-by-visit guide that provides information on tracking dietary intake; reducing cigarette, alcohol, and illegal drug use; identifying symptoms of pregnancy complications and signs of children's illnesses; communicating with health care professionals; promoting parent-child interactions; creating safe households; and considering educational and career options.Olds, D.L. 2008. "Preventing child maltreatment and crime with prenatal and infancy support of parents: The Nurse-Family Partnership." *Journal of Scandinavian Studies in Criminology and Crime Prevention*, 9(S1), 2-24; SAMHSA's National Registry of Evidence-Based Programs and Practices (NREPP), Program revie wed July 2008.
- ⁶³ See, for example, Family Violence Prevention Foundation. 2010. *Realizing the Promise of Home Visitation: Addressing Domestic Violence and Child Maltreatment. A Guide for Policy Makers*. (San Francisco, CA: Family Violence Prevention Fund).
- ⁶⁴ Karoly, LA. Kilburn, RM. Canon, J. 2005. *Early Childhood Interventions: Proven Results, Future Promise*. Available at http://www.rand.org/pubs/monographs/2005/RAND_MG341.pdf
- ⁶⁵ Evidence-based parenting programs are those which: (i) employ professional staff such as nurses or social workers; (ii) are associated with a national organization or institution of higher education that has comprehensive home visitation program standards that ensure high quality service delivery and continuous program quality improvement; and (iii) demonstrate fidelity to a parenting or family strengthening model that has: been in existence for at least three years; been evaluated using a well-designed and rigorous randomized controlled trial (RCT) and the evaluation results have been published in a peer-reviewed journal; and where one or more RCT evaluations have demonstrated significant and sustained positive child abuse outcomes.
- ⁶⁶ See, for example, Mikton, C.; Butchart, A. 2009. "Child maltreatment prevention: A systematic review of reviews." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 87, 353-361; Lundahl, B.W.; Nimer, J. 2006. "Preventing child abuse: A meta-analysis of parent training programs." *Research on Social Work Practice*. 16(3),251–262.

lessons-from-the-dove-intervention/

⁵⁹ Trocmé, N.; et al. 2010. Canadian Incidence of Reported Child Abuse and Neglect 2008: Major Findings. (Ottawa, ON: Public Health Agency of Canada).

⁶⁰ Jouriles, E.N.; *et al.* 2008. "Child abuse in the context of intimate partner violence: Prevalence, explanations, and practice implications." *Violence and Victims*, 23(2), 221-235. See also Taylor, C.A.; *et al.* 2009. "Intimate partner violence, maternal stress, nativity, and risk for maternal maltreatment of young children." *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(1), 175-183.

⁶⁷ Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), available at http://www.modelprograms.samhsa.gov.

⁶⁸ Prinz, R.J.; et al. 2009. "Population-based prevention of child maltreatment: The U.S, Triple P system population trial." *Prevention Science*, 10(1), 1-12.

⁶⁹ Palusci, V.J.; *et al.* 2008. "Changes in parenting attitudes and knowledge among inmates and other at-risk populations after a family nurturing program." *Children and Youth Services Review*, 30(1), 79-89.

⁷⁰ Bullock, L. Sharps,P. 2011. Domestic violence within the context of home visiting: Eight lessons from the DOVE Intervention. *Futures Without Violence*. Available at: http://futureswithoutviolence.org/health/ejournal/2011/04/domestic-violence-within-the-context-of-home-visitingeight-



⁷¹ Bullock, L. Evidence for Home Visiting Program to Reduce Intimate Partner Violence and Related Health Disparities. Available at

 $http://www.futureswithoutviolence.org/userfiles/file/Children_and_Families/Briefing\%20Dr.\%20Bullock\%20Presentation\%202-3-10.pdf$

http://futureswithoutviolence.org/health/ejournal/2011/04/domestic-violence-within-the-context-of-home-visitingeight-lessons-from-the-dove-intervention/

⁷² Bullock, L. Sharps,P. 2011. Domestic violence within the context of home visiting: Eight lessons from the DOVE Intervention. *Futures Without Violence*. Available at:

⁷³ See http://nfp.mcmaster.ca/index.html

⁷⁴ Olds, D.L. 2008. "Preventing child maltreatment and crime with prenatal and infancy support of parents: The Nurse-Family Partnership." *Journal of Scandinavian Studies in Criminology and Crime Prevention*, 9(S1), 2-24; SAMHSA's National Registry of Evidence-Based Programs and Practices (NREPP), Program reviewed July 2008.

⁷⁵ Van De Korput, J. 2010. *Netherlands Violence Strategy Summary*. (KP the Hague, Netherlands: Bernard Van Leer Foundation).

⁷⁶ Pew Center on the States. *Federal Health Care Reform Legislation, Home Visiting Summary*, updated March 22, 2010. Available at http://www.health.state.mn.us/divs/fh/mch/fhv/documents/PEWHVSummary.pdf.

⁷⁷ Chamberlain, L. Levenson, R. 2011. *Healthy Moms, Healthy Babies: A Train the Trainers Curriculum on Domestic Violence, Reproductive Coercion and Children Exposed*. Futures Without Violence. Available at http://www.futureswithoutviolence.org/userfiles/file/HealthCare/HV Trainer%27s Guide Low Res FINAL.pdf

⁷⁸ Personal communication. Linda Chamberlain. 24 May 2012.

⁷⁹ http://www.parentlinkalberta.ca/publish/docs/TriplePNewsRelease 2010.pdf

⁸⁰ Du-Mont, K., Mitchell-Herzfeld, S., Greene, R., Lee, E., Lowenfels, A., Rodriquez, M., Dorabawila, V. 2008. Healthy Families New York randomized trial: Effects on early child abuse and neglect. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 32, 295-315.

⁸¹ In addition to information and skill development around assessing and addressing domestic violence, training should include information on reproductive coercion, impact of domestic violence on children, potential impact of past trauma on parenting, partnering with community resources (e.g., shelters), and safety and self-care for Home Visitors.

⁸² Mulvihill, D. 2005. The health impact of childhood trauma: an interdisciplinary review, 1997-2003. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing*, 28(2), 115-136.

⁸³ National Child Traumatic Stress Network. 2011. *Children and Domestic Violence*. Available at http://www.nctsnet.org/content/children-and-domestic-violence

⁸⁴ Fang, A.; Corso, P. 2007. "Child maltreatment, youth violence, and intimate partner violence: Developmental relationship." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 33, 281–290; Vézina, J.; Hébert, M. 2007. "Risk factors for victimization in romantic relationship of young women: A review of empirical studies and implications for prevention." *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse*, 8, 33–66; Medeiros, R.A.; Straus, M.A. 2006. "Risk factors for physical violence between dating partners: Implications for gender-inclusive prevention and treatment of family violence." C. Hamel & T. Nicholls (Eds.), *Family Approaches to Intimate partner Violence: A Practitioner's Guide to Gender-Inclusive Research and Treatment*, pp. 59-87. (New York, NY: Springer).

⁸⁵ Fang, A.; Corso, P. 2007. "Child maltreatment, youth violence, and intimate partner violence: Developmental relationship." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 33, 281–290; Vézina, J.; Hébert, M. 2007. "Risk factors for victimization in romantic relationship of young women: A review of empirical studies and implications for prevention." *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse*, 8, 33–66; Medeiros, R.A.; Straus, M.A. 2006. "Risk factors for physical violence between dating partners: Implications for gender-inclusive prevention and treatment of family violence." C. Hamel & T. Nicholls (Eds.), *Family Approaches to Intimate partner Violence: A Practitioner's Guide to Gender-Inclusive Research and Treatment*, pp. 59-87. (New York, NY: Springer).

⁸⁶ Pepler, D.J.; et al. 2006. "A developmental perspective on bullying." Aggressive Behavior, 32, 376–384.

⁸⁷ Pepler, D.J.; et al. 2008. "Developmental trajectories of bullying associated factors." Child Development, 79(2), 325-338.



⁸⁸ Mahoney, T.H. 2010. "Police-reported dating violence in Canada, 2008." *Juristat*, 30(2). Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 85-002-X, Vol. 30, no. 2. (Ottawa, ON: Minister of Industry).

38(1): 281-345. See also: Farrington, D.P.; Ttofi, M.M. 2009. School-Based Programs to Reduce Bullying and Victimization. Campbell Systematic Reviews. The Campbell Collaborative. 15 December 2009. Updated 8 March 2010.

⁸⁹ Mahoney, T.H. 2010. "Police-reported dating violence in Canada, 2008." *Juristat*, 30(2). Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 85-002-X, Vol. 30, no. 2. (Ottawa, ON: Minister of Industry).

⁹⁰ World Health Organization. 2010. *Preventing Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Against Women: Taking action and generating evidence*. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2010/9789241564007_eng.pdf

⁹¹ http://www.youthrelationships.org/

⁹² http://www.childtrends.org/lifecourse/programs/safedates.htm

⁹³ Wolfe, DA; et al. 2009. "A School-Based Program to Prevent Adolescent Dating Violence." Arch Pediatric Adolesc Med, 163(8).

⁹⁴ Foshee, V.A. et al. 2005. "Assessing the Effects of the Dating Violence Prevention Program 'Safe Dates' Using Random Coefficient Regression Modeling." Prevention Science. 9 (3).

⁹⁵ See, for example: Wolfe, DA; et al. 2009. "A School-Based Program to Prevent Adolescent Dating Violence." Arch Pediatric Adolesc Med, 163(8). Also see: Foshee, V.A. et al. 2005. "Assessing the Effects of the Dating Violence Prevention Program 'Safe Dates' Using Random Coefficient Regression Modeling." Prevention Science. 9 (3).

⁹⁶Johnson, H. 2006. Measuring violence against women: statistical trends 2006. Catalogue no. 85-561-MWE. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

⁹⁷ Bureau of Justice Statistics. 2001. Special Report Intimate Partner Violence and Age of Victim, 1993-1999. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office.

⁹⁸ A Mount Royal University Study (Calgary, Alberta) of 1572 randomly selected students found that one in three students had experienced dating violence. See: Warthe, D. G., & Tutty, L.M. (2010, November). Manifestations of sex and gender: Using survey data to understand the gendered experience of violence. RESOLVE Research Day, Calgary, Alberta.

⁹⁹ Arnett, JJ. 2000. Emerging Adulthood: A Theory of Development From the Late Teens Through the Twenties. American Psychologist. 55(5): 469-480.

¹⁰⁰ Ttofi, M.M.; Farrington, D.P. 2011. "Effectiveness of school-based programs to reduce bullying: a systematic and meta-analytic review." Journal of Experimental Criminology. 7: 27-56.

¹⁰¹ Ttofi, M.M.; Farrington, D.P. 2011. "Effectiveness of school-based programs to reduce bullying: a systematic and meta-analytic review." Journal of Experimental Criminology. 7: 27-56.

¹⁰² Farringtonm D.P.; Ttofi, M.M. 2009. "Reducing School Bullying: Evidence-Based Implications for Policy." *Crime and Justice*

¹⁰³ Josephson, W.L.; Pepler, D. 2012. Bullying: a stepping stone to dating aggression? *Int J Adolesc Med Health*. 24(1). In press.

¹⁰⁴ Josephson, W.L.; Pepler, D. 2012. Bullying: a stepping stone to dating aggression? *Int J Adolesc Med Health*. 24(1). In press.

¹⁰⁵ http://www.olweus.org

¹⁰⁶ http://www.kivakoulu.fi/there-is-no-bullying-in-kiva-school

¹⁰⁷ Stevens, A.; Kessler, I.; Steinack, K. 2006. *A Review of Good Practices in Preventing the Various Types of Violence in the European Union*. Report prepared for the European Commission. Available at http://www.eucpn.org/pubdocs/A%20review%20of%20good%20practice%20in%20preventing%20various%20types%20of%20violence%20in%20the%20EU.pdf.

¹⁰⁸ Marti, C.; et al. 2007. Pla Municipal Contra La Violencia Vers les Dones 2007-2009. (Barcelona, Spain : Ajuntament de Barcelona).



- http://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/112/s1447
- 110 http://www.securityoncampus.org/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=133&Itemid=27
- Warthe, D. G., Carter-Snell, C., Kostouros, P., & Tutty, L. M. 2011. Stepping Up: Reducing dating violence and its impact on post-secondary students. Presented at RESOLVE Research Day, Winnipeg, Manitoba, October 2012.
- ¹¹² Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2011). *Helping Children and Youth Who Have Experienced Traumatic Events*. SAMHSA, May 3, 2011. HHS Publication No. SMA-11-4642.
- ¹¹³ Hillis, S.D., Anda, R.F., Dube, S., Felitti, V., Marchbanks, P.A., & Marks, J.S. (2004). The association between adverse childhood experiences and adolescent pregnancy, long-term psychosocial consequences, and fetal death. *Pediatrics, 113,* 320-327.
- ¹¹⁴ National Child Traumatic Stress Network. 2011. *Children and Domestic Violence*. Available at http://www.nctsnet.org/content/children-and-domestic-violence
- ¹¹⁵ US Department of Justice. 2011. *Evidence-based Practices for Children Exposed to Violence: A Selection from Federal Databases*. Available at http://www.safestartcenter.org/pdf/Evidence-Based-Practices-Matrix 2011.pdf
- ¹¹⁶ See, for example, Cohen, J.A.; Mannarino, A.P.; Iyengar, S. 2011. "Community treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder for children exposed to intimate partner violence: A randomized controlled trial." *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 165(1), 16–21; Blodgett, C.; *et al.* 2008. "Crisis intervention for children and caregivers exposed to intimate partner violence." *Best Practices in Mental Health*, 4(1), 74–91; Cohen, J.A.; Mannarino, A.P. 2008. "Traumafocused cognitive behavioural therapy for children and parents." *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 13(4), 158–162.
- ¹¹⁷ Puccia, E.; *et al.* 2012. "Using community outreach and evidence-based treatment to address domestic violence issues." *Social Work in Mental Health*, 10(2), 104-126.
- ¹¹⁸ Wilson, C., Conradi, L & Hendricks, A. (2012). Creating trauma-informed child welfare systems. Chadwick-Trauma-Informed Systems Project. Presentation at the 26th Annual San Diego International Conference on Child and Family Maltreatment, January 25 2012. Presentation available online at http://www.sandiegoconference.org/program.html; Massachusetts Advocate for Children (2009). Helping Traumatized Children Learn: A Report and Policy Agenda. Online report available at http://www.massadvocates.org/documents/HTCL_9-09.pdf; Jankowski, K. & Ashley, S. (2012). The New Hampshire Bridge Project: Serving Traumatized Children and Youth in the Family Courts, Child Welfare and Juvenile Justice Settings. Presentation at the 26th Annual San Diego International Conference on Child and Family Maltreatment. Presentation available online at http://www.sandiegoconference.org/program.html
- ¹¹⁹ The National Child Traumatic Stress Network (2008). *Trauma-Informed Interventions: ARC: General Information*. Retrieved March 7, 2012 from www.NCTSN.org; Jentoft-Kinniburgh, K., Blaustein, M., & Spinnazzola, J. (2005). Attachment, Self-Regulation, and Competency: A comprehensive framework for children with complex trauma. *Psychiatric Annals*, *35*(5), 424-430.
- Personal Communication with Margaret Casey, Calgary Board of Education Psychologist. March 8, 2012 Calgary Board of Education. 2012. *Getting To Know The Value of Calgary's Public Schools*. Calgary: Author. Retrieved March 9, 2012 from http://www.cbe.ab.ca/aboutus/documents/cbe-book 20120224.pdf
- ¹²¹ Spokane County Community Network. 2009. Overview of Trauma Informed Practice in Schools. Spokane Video -- Complex Trauma and Schools, Available at http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=A1vbSSQJOHw
- ¹²² McArdle, E. (2011). Students testify before education committee to garner support for safe schools. *Harvard Law School,* The President and Fellows of Harvard College, November 15, 2011. Retrieved March 5th 2012 from http://www.law.harvard.edu/news/2011/11/15_hls-education-law-clinic-students-testify.html
- ¹²³ Project Best. *Bringing Evidence Supported Treatments to South Carolina Children and Families*. Retrieved March 1, 2012 from http://academicdepartments.musc.edu/projectbest/what/what.htm
- ¹²⁴ National Child Traumatic Stress Network. 2011. *Children and Domestic Violence*. Available at http://www.nctsnet.org/content/children-and-domestic-violence
- ¹²⁵ Wilson, C., Conradi, L., & Hendricks, A. (2012). Creating Trauma-Informed Child Welfare Systems. Presentation at the 26th Annual San Diego International Conference on Child and Family Maltreatment. Available



 $\textbf{at http://www.sandiegoconference.org/Program/documents/H9_Conradi_Hendricks_Wilson_Creating_Trauma-informed_Child_Welfare_Systems_rev.pdf$

who witness community violence: can parent support and prosocial cognitions protect them from committing violence?" *Child Development*, 2005, 76:917–929.3,4

http://www.preventioninstitute.org/index.php?option=com_ilibrary&view=article&id=105&Itemid=127

content/uploads/2010/03/Mens%20Participation%20as%20Fathers%20in%20the%20Latin%20American(2008)-ING.pdf ¹⁴¹ MenCare. 2011. A Global Fatherhood Campaign. Available at

 $http://www.mencare.org/sites/menengage/files/themes/files/menengage_web/Men\%20Care\%20\%20Prospectus\%20-web/menengage_web/Men\%20Care\%20\%20Prospectus\%20-web/menengage_web/Men\%20Care\%20\%20Prospectus\%20-web/menengage_web/Men\%20Care\%20\%20Prospectus\%20-web/menengage_web/Men\%20Care\%20\%20Prospectus\%20-web/menengage_$

¹²⁶Durlauf S.N.; Blume L.E. 2008. *New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics, Second Edition*. London, Macmillan.

¹²⁷ Lansford J.E.; Dodge K.A. 2008. "Cultural norms for adult corporal punishment of children and societal rates of endorsement and use of violence." *Parenting: Science and Practice*. 8:257–270.

¹²⁸ Abrahams N.; Jewkes R. 2005. "Effects of South African men's having witnessed abuse of their mothers during childhood on their levels of violence in adulthood." *American Journal of Public Health*. 95:1811–1816; Brookmeyer K.A.; Henrich C.C., Schwab-Stone M. "Adolescents

¹²⁹ Johnson, JG et al. 2002. "Television viewing and aggressive behavior during adolescence and adulthood." *Science*. 295:2468–2471

¹³⁰ World Health Organization. 2002. *World Report on Violence and Health*, Geneva. Available at http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world_report/en/

World Health Organization. 2002. World Report on Violence and Health, Geneva. Available at http://www.who.int/violence injury prevention/violence/world report/en/

¹³² McDonnell, J.; Ott, J.; Mitchell, M. 2010. "Predicting dating violence victimization and perpetration among middle and high school students in a rural Southern community." The Children and Youth Services Review. 32(10): 1458-1463.

World Health Organization. 2002. World Report on Violence and Health, Geneva, p. 4. http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world_report/en/

¹³⁴ Leger Marketing. Men's Attitudes and Behaviors Toward Violence Against Women. Alberta Council of Women's Shelters. March 12, 2012. Powerpoint Presentation.

¹³⁵ Cohen, L. 1999. The Spectrum of Prevention: Developing a Comprehensive Approach to Injury Prevention. The Prevention Institute. Available at:

World Health Organization. 2009. Violence Prevention: The Evidence. Available at http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2009/9789241598507 eng.pdf

¹³⁷ See, for example: Crooks, C.V.; et al. 2007. "Engaging men and boys in preventing violence against women: Applying a cognitive-behaviour model." *Violence Against Women*, 13, 217-239. See also: DeKerseredy, W.S.; Schwartz, M.D; Alvi, S. 2000. "The role of profeminist men in dealing with woman abuse on the Canadian college campus." *Violence Against Women*, 6, 918-935; Kaufman, M. 2001. "Building a movement of men working to end violence against women." *Society for International Development*, 44(3), 9-14; Groth, B. 2000. "Lessons from the spiritual lives of men who work in the movement to end violence against women and children." *Journal of Religion & Abuse*, 2(1), 5-31.

¹³⁸ Hart Research Associates 2007) Nationwide survey among 1020 men. *Family Violence Prevention Fund*. Available at http://www.endabuse.org/content/news/detail/945

¹³⁹ Leger Marketing. Men's Attitudes and Behaviors Toward Violence Against Women. Alberta Council of Women's Shelters. March 12, 2012. Powerpoint Presentation.

¹⁴⁰ Pruett, K. 2000. Father-need. New York, NY: Broadway Books. See also: Barker, G., and Verani, F. 2008. Men's Participation as Fathers in the Latin American and Caribbean Region: A Critical Literature Review with Policy Considerations. Available at http://www.promundo.org.br/wp-

¹⁴² Barker, G., Ricardo C., & Nascimento, M. 2007. *Engaging men and boys in changing gender-based inequity in health:* evidence from programme interventions. World Health Organization. Available at http://www.who.int/en/



- ¹⁴³ Mussel, W., 2005. *Warrior-Caregivers: Understanding the Challenges and Healing of First Nations Men*. Aboriginal Healing Foundation. Available at http://www.ahf.ca
- ¹⁴⁴ Katz, J. (n.d.). *Mentors in Violence Prevention*. Available at http://www.jacksonkatz.com/mvp.html
- ¹⁴⁵ Dyson, S., & Flood, M. 2008. Building Cultures of Respect and Non-Violence: A review of literature concerning adult learning and violence prevention programs with men. Available at http://www.afl.com.au/Portals/0/afl docs/Building%20Cultures of%20Respect.pdf
- ¹⁴⁶ DeKeseredy, W.S., & Kelly, K. 1995. Sexual abuse in Canadian university and college dating relationships: The contribution of male peer support. *Journal of Family Violence* 10(1), 41-53
- ¹⁴⁷ Flood, M. 2007. Background document for *Preventing Violence Before It Occurs: A framework and background paper to guide the primary prevention of violence against women in Victoria*. Australia, Melbourne: Victorian Health Promotion Foundation. Available at
- http://www.xyonline.net/sites/default/files/Flood, %20 Background %20 document %20 for %20 Preventing %20 Violence %20 Before %20 It %20 Occurs %20 PUB.pdf
- ¹⁴⁸ Crooks, C., Wolfe, D., Jaffe, P., Chiado, D., Hughes, R., Ellis, W., Stitt, L., & Donner, A. 2009. A school-based program to prevent adolescent dating violence. *Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine*, *163*, 8, 692-699. Available at http://archpedi.ama-assn.org/cgi/reprint/163/8/692.pdf.
- ¹⁴⁹ DeKerseredy, W.S., Schwartz, M.D, Alvi, S. 2000. The role of profeminist men in dealing with woman abuse on the Canadian college campus. *Violence Against Women*, 6, 918-935.
- ¹⁵⁰ Kaufman, M. 2001. *Building a movement of men working to end violence against women*. The Society for International Development 44(3), 9-14.
- ¹⁵¹ Minerson, T., Carolo, H., Dinner, T. & Jones, C. 2011. *Issue Brief: Engaging Men and Boys to Reduce and Prevent Gender-Based Violence*. Status of Women Canada. Available at http://whiteribbon.ca/issuebrief/pdf/wrc swc issuebrief.pdf
- ¹⁵² Flood, M. 2007. Background document for *Preventing Violence Before It Occurs: A framework and background paper to guide the primary prevention of violence against women in Victoria*. Australia, Melbourne: Victorian Health Promotion Foundation. Available at
- http://www.xyonline.net/sites/default/files/Flood,%20Background%20document%20for%20Preventing%20Violence%20Before%20It%20Occurs%20PUB.pdf
- ¹⁵³ Men Can Stop Rape. 2011. *A comprehensive approach: the Strength Campaign*. Available at http://www.mencanstoprape.org/A-Comprehensive-Approach-The-Strength-Campaign/
- ¹⁵⁴ Davis, R., Parks, L., & Cohen, L. (2006). Sexual Violence and the Spectrum of

Prevention: Towards a community solution. Enola, PA: National Sexual Violence

Resource Centre. Available at http://www.preventioninstitute.org/component/jlibrary/article/id-97/127.html

- ¹⁵⁵Minerson, T.; et al. 2011. Issue Brief: Engaging Men and Boys to Reduce and Prevent Gender-Based Violence. (Ottawa, ON: Status of Women Canada).
- 156 http://www.endvawnow.org/uploads/browser/files/Coaching%20Boys%20into%20Men.pdf
- 157 I am a Kind Man Campaign. 2011. Available at http://www.iamakindman.ca.
- ¹⁵⁸ Alberta Council of Women's Shelters. 2011. *Taking a stand: A partnership with men to end domestic violence.* Whitemud West Bantam Coach Training Project Evaluation Report.
- ¹⁵⁹ Gay Men's Domestic Violence Project. 2011. Strategic Plan For Fiscal Years 2012 to 2017. Available at http://gmdvp.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/GMDVP-Strategic-Plan-FY2012-2017-RD.pdf
- ¹⁶⁰ Hajjar, L. (2004). *Religion, state power, and domestic violence in Muslim societies: A Framework for Comparative Analysis*. Chicago, IL: American Bar Foundation.
- ¹⁶¹ Kelly, L. (2000). Wars Against Women: Sexual politics, sexual violence and the militarized state. In S. Jacobs, R. Jacobson, & J. Marchbank (Eds.) *States of conflict. Gender, violence and resistance* (pp. 45-63). New York, NY: Zed Books.



- ¹⁶² Lorenzetti, L. & Este, D. (2011). War and partner violence: Refugee women's experiences and impacts on resettlement. *Canadian Social Work, 12*(1), 76-81.
- ¹⁶³ Fong, (2010). *Out of the shadows: Woman abuse in ethnic, Aboriginal, and refugee communities.* New York, NY:Berghahn Books
- ¹⁶⁴ Statistics Canada (2010). *Projections of the diversity of the Canadian population*. Ottawa, ON: Minister of Industry.
- ¹⁶⁵ In 2006, there were 242,750 immigrants living in Calgary, representing 25% of the city's population . Source: City of Calgary. (2011). Social outlook 2011-2016. Retrieved from http://www.calgary.ca/CSPS/CNS/Documents/social_outlook_2011-2016.pdf
- ¹⁶⁶ VanderPlaat, M. 2007. *Integration outcomes for immigrant women in Canada: A review of the literature 2000-2007* (Working Paper No. 8-2007). Available at http://www.atlantic.metropolis.net/WorkingPapers/VanderPlaat_WP8.pdf
- ¹⁶⁷ Runner, M., Yoshihama, M., & Novick, S. (2009). *Intimate partner violence in immigrant and refugee communities: challenges, promising practices and recommendations*. Princeton, NJ: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.rwif.org/files/research/ipyreport20090331.pdf
- ¹⁶⁸ See, for example: Statistics Canada. 2011. *Family Violence in Canada: A Statistical Profile*. Released January 27, 2011Catalogue no. 85-224-X. Available at http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-224-x/85-224-x2010000-eng.pdf
- ¹⁶⁹ Gupta, J. 2009. Premigration exposure to political violence and perpetration of intimate partner violence among immigrant men in boston. American Journal of Public Health (1971), 99(3), 462-469
- ¹⁷⁰ Brownridge, D.A.; Halli, S.S. 2002. Double jeopardy? Violence against immigrant women in Canada. Violence and Victims, 17: 4555-471.
- ¹⁷¹ Lorenzetti, L. & Este, D. (2011). War and partner violence: Refugee women's experiences and impacts on resettlement. *Canadian Social Work, 12*(1), 76-81.
- ¹⁷² Ampofo, A., Beoku-Betts, J., Njambi, W., & Osirim, M. (2004). Women's and gender studies in English-speaking Sub-Saharan Africa: A review of research in the social sciences. *Gender & Society*, 18, 685-714.
- ¹⁷³ Hagemann-White et al. 2011. Factors at play in the perpetration of VAW, VAC and SOV: A Multi-level interactive model. Annex to: European Commission, Feasibility study to assess the possibilities, opportunities and needs to standardize national legislation on violence against women, violence against children and sexual orientation violence. Publications Office of the European Union (2010). Available at http://ec.europa.eu/justice/funding/daphne3/multi-level_interactive_model/understanding_perpetration_start_uinix.html
- ¹⁷⁴ Smith, E. (2004). *Nowhere to turn? Responding to partner violence against immigrant and visible minority women.* Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development.
- ¹⁷⁵ Ahmad, F.; Riaz, S.; Barata, P.; Stewart, D. E. 2004. Patriarchal beliefs and perceptions of abuse among south Asian immigrant women. *Violence Against Women, 10*(3), 262-282. See also: Hyman, I.; Guruge, S.; Stewart, D. E.; Ahmad, F. 2000. Primary prevention of violence against women. *Women's Health Issues, 10, 288-293.*
- ¹⁷⁶ Hyman, I.; Guruge, S.; Stewart, D. E.; Ahmad, F. 2000. Primary prevention of violence against women. *Women's Health Issues*, *10*, 288-293.
- ¹⁷⁷ Oxman-Martinez, J.; Lapierre Vincent, N.(eds.). 2002. *Precarious Immigration Status, Dependency and Women*"s *Vulnerability to Violence: Impacts on Their Health*. Montreal: Centre for Applied Family Studies and Immigration and Metropolis. http://im.metropolis.net/generalinfo/info_content/actes.anglais.pdf
- ¹⁷⁸ VanderPlaat, M. 2007. *Integration outcomes for immigrant women in Canada: A review of the literature 2000-2007* (Working Paper No. 8-2007). Available at http://www.atlantic.metropolis.net/WorkingPapers/VanderPlaat WP8.pdf
- ¹⁷⁹ Lorenzetti, L. & Este, D. (2011). War and partner violence: Refugee women's experiences and impacts on resettlement. *Canadian Social Work, 12*(1), 76-81.
- ¹⁸⁰ Menjivar, C., & Salcido, O. 2002. Immigrant women and domestic violence: Common experiences in different countries. *Gender & Society, 16,* 898-920.; Smith, E. 2004. *Nowhere to turn? Responding to partner violence against immigrant and visible minority women.* Department of Justice, Sectoral Involvement in Departmental Policy Development. Retrieved from http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/2004/nowhere/nowhere to turn.pdf



- ¹⁸¹ Ahmad, F.; Riaz, S.; Barata, P.; Stewart, D. E. 2004. Patriarchal beliefs and perceptions of abuse among south Asian immigrant women. *Violence Against Women, 10*(3), 262-282. See also: Hyman, I.; Guruge, S.; Stewart, D. E.; Ahmad, F. 2000. Primary prevention of violence against women. *Women's Health Issues, 10*, 288-293.
- ¹⁸² Hyman, I.; Guruge, S.; Stewart, D. E.; Ahmad, F. 2000. Primary prevention of violence against women. *Women's Health Issues*, *10*, 288-293.
- ¹⁸³ Oxman-Martinez, J.; Lapierre Vincent, N.(eds.). 2002. *Precarious Immigration Status, Dependency and Women*"s *Vulnerability to Violence: Impacts on Their Health*. Montreal: Centre for Applied Family Studies and Immigration and Metropolis. http://im.metropolis.net/generalinfo/info_content/actes.anglais.pdf
- ¹⁸⁴ VanderPlaat, M. 2007. *Integration outcomes for immigrant women in Canada: A review of the literature 2000-2007* (Working Paper No. 8-2007). Retrieved from Atlantic Metropolis Sector website http://www.atlantic.metropolis.net/WorkingPapers/VanderPlaat WP8.pdf
- ¹⁸⁵ Oxman-Martinez, J.; Hanley, J.; Lach, L.; Khanlou, N.; Weerasinghe, S.; Agnew, V. 2005. Intersection of Canadian Policy Parameters Affecting Women with Precarious Immigration Status: A Baseline for Understanding Barriers to Health. Journal of Immigrant Health. 7(4): 247-258.
- ¹⁸⁶ Baobaid, M.; Hamed, G. 2010. *Domestic Violence in Canadian Muslim Communities: A Training Manual for Muslim Communities and Ontario Service Providers*. Muslim Resource Centre for Social Support and Integration. Available at http://www.lfcc.on.ca/MFSP Manual 2010.pdf
- ¹⁸⁷ Kulwicki, A.D.; Miller, J. 1999. "Domestic Violence in the Arab American population: Transforming environmental conditions through community education." Issues in Mental Health Nursing, 20: 199-215.
- Reinfeldt, F.; Sabuni, N. 2007. Action plan for combating men's violence against women, violence and oppression in the name of honour and violence in same-sex relationships. Government of Sweden. Retrieved from http://www.sweden.gov.se/content/1/c6/09/87/69/6138ac76.pdf
- ¹⁸⁹ Alberta Federation of Labour. 2009. Entrenching exploitation: The second report of the Alberta federation of labour temporary foreign worker advocate. Available at http://www.afl.org/index.php/View-document/123-Entrenching-Exploitation-Second-Rept-of-AFL-Temporary-Foreign-Worker-Advocate.html
- ¹⁹⁰ Simbandumwe, L.; Bailey, K.; Denetto, S.; Migliardi, P.; Bacon, B.; Nighswander, M. 2008. Family violence prevention programs in immigrant communities: perspectives of immigrant men. *Journal Of Community Psychology*, *36*(7), 899-914. doi:10.1002/jcop.20263.
- ¹⁹¹ Hodge, J. 2006. "Unskilled Labour": Canada's Live-in Caregiver Program. *Undercurrent*, *3*(2), 60-66. Also: Pratt, G. 1997. Stereotypes and ambivalence: The construction of domestic workers in Vancouver, British Columbia. *Gender, Place & Culture: A Journal of Feminist Geography*, *4*(2), 159-177.; Zarembka, J. M. 2002. America's dirty work: Migrant maids and modern-day slavery. In B. Ehrenreich & A. R. Hochschild (Eds.), *Global Woman: Nannies, Maids, and Sex Workers in the New Economy* (pp. 142-153). New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- ¹⁹² Papp, A. 2010. *Culturally driven violence against women: A growing problem in Canada's immigrant communities*. Winnipeg, MB, Canada: Frontier Centre for Public Policy. Available at http://www.fcpp.org/files/1/Culturally-Driven%20Violence%20Against%20Women.pdf
- ¹⁹³ Shirwadkar, S. 2004. Canadian domestic violence policy and Indian immigrant women. *Violence Against Women, 10*(8), 860-879. doi: 10.1177/1077801204266310.
- ¹⁹⁴ Hyman, I.; Mason, R.; Guruge, S.; Berman, H.; Kanagaratnam, P.; Manuel, L. 2011. Perceptions of factors contributing to intimate partner violence among Sri Lankan Tamil immigrant women in Canada. *Health Care for Women International, 32*(9), 779-794. doi:10.1080/07399332.2011.569220.
- ¹⁹⁵ InterQuest Consulting. 2006. Consultations on the Settlement and Language Training Services Needs of Newcomers in support of the Canada-Ontario Immigration Agreement. Available at http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/publications/settlement/coia-summary.asp#s1
- Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion. First International Conference on Health Promotion. Ottawa, 21 November 1986
 WHO/HPR/HEP/95.1. Available at http://www.who.int/hpr/NPH/docs/ottawa_charter_hp.pdf



- Parks, L.F.; Cohen, L.; Kravitz-Wirtz, N. 2007. *Poised for Prevention: Advancing Promising Approaches to Primary Prevention of Intimate Partner Violence*. The Prevention Institute. Available at http://www.preventioninstitute.org/index.php?option=com illibrary&view=article&id=32&Itemid=127
- ¹⁹⁸ Parks, L.F.; Cohen, L.; Kravitz-Wirtz, N. 2007. *Poised for Prevention: Advancing Promising Approaches to Primary Prevention of Intimate Partner Violence.* The Prevention Institute. Available at http://www.preventioninstitute.org/index.php?option=com illibrary&view=article&id=32&Itemid=127
- Parks, L.F.; Cohen, L.; Kravitz-Wirtz, N. 2007. *Poised for Prevention: Advancing Promising Approaches to Primary Prevention of Intimate Partner Violence*. The Prevention Institute. Available at http://www.preventioninstitute.org/index.php?option=com illibrary&view=article&id=32&Itemid=127
- ²⁰⁰ VicHealth. 2007. Preventing violence before it occurs: A framework and background paper to guide the primary prevention of violence against women in Victoria. Victorian Health Promotion Foundation. Available at http://www.vichealth.vic.gov.au/Publications/Freedom-from-violence/Preventing-violence-before-it-occurs.aspx
- ²⁰¹ Alberta Council of Women's Shelters. 2009. *Violence in the Workplace*. Summary Report. Available at http://www.acws.ca/documents/LEGER_2_.pdf
- ²⁰² Parks, L.F.; Cohen, L.; Kravitz-Wirtz, N. 2007. *Poised for Prevention: Advancing Promising Approaches to Primary Prevention of Intimate Partner Violence*. The Prevention Institute. Available at http://www.preventioninstitute.org/index.php?option=com_jlibrary&view=article&id=32&Itemid=127
- ²⁰³ Government of Alberta. 2006. "Preventing Violence and Harassment at the Workplace." Workplace Health and Safety Bulletin. (Reformatted in 2010). Available at http://www.employment.alberta.ca/documents/WHS/WHS-PUB-vah001.pdf
- Government of Alberta. 2006. "Preventing Violence and Harassment at the Workplace." Workplace Health and Safety Bulletin. (Reformatted in 2010). Available at http://www.employment.alberta.ca/documents/WHS/WHS-PUB-vah001.pdf
- ²⁰⁵ Corso P.S.; Mercy J.A.; Simon T.R.; Finkelstein E.A.; Miller T.R., 2007. "Medical costs and productivity losses due to interpersonal and self-directed violence in the United States." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 32(6):474–482.
- ²⁰⁶ http://www.labour.gov.on.ca/english/hs/sawo/pubs/fs workplaceviolence.php
- ²⁰⁷ http://www.crisisprevention.com/Resources/Knowledge-Base/Manitoba-s-Workplace-Safety-and-Health-Regulation-
- ²⁰⁸ http://acws.ca/family-business-connect.php
- World Health Organization. 2005. World Health Fact Sheet: Intimate Partner Violence and Alcohol. Available at http://www.who.int/violence injury prevention/violence/world report/factsheets/fs intimate.pdf
- ²¹⁰ At 8%, the provinces of Alberta and Saskatchewan have the highest rates of domestic violence in Canada. See: Statistics Canada. (2011). Family Violence in Canada: A Statistical Profile. Available at http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-224-x/85-224-x2010000-eng.pdf
- ²¹¹ Government of Alberta. 2007. *Developing an Alberta Alcohol Strategy*. Available at http://aglc.ca/pdf/social_responsibility/Alberta_Alcohol_Strategy.pdf
- ²¹² Government of Alberta. 2007. *Developing an Alberta Alcohol Strategy*. Available at http://aglc.ca/pdf/social_responsibility/Alberta_Alcohol_Strategy.pdf
- ²¹³ Alberta Gaming and Liquor Commission (AGLC). 2011. *Quick facts liquor. liquor retailing in alberta: Before and after privatization.* Available at http://www.aglc.gov.ab.ca/pdf/quickfacts/quickfacts_liquor.pdf
- ²¹⁴ Flanagan, G. 2003. *Sobering result: The Alberta liquor retailing industry: Ten years after privatization.* Calgary, AB: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives and Parkland Institute. Available at http://www.policyalternatives.org/sites/default/files/uploads/publications/National_Office_Pubs/sobering_result.pdf
- ²¹⁵ Babor, T., et al. 2010. *Alcohol: No ordinary commodity*. (2nd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199551149.001.0001
- Anderson, P.; Chisholm, D.; Fuhr, D. C. 2009. "Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policies and programmes to reduce the harm caused by alcohol." *Lancet*, 373(9682), 2234-2246. See also: Ashe, M.; Jernigan, D.; Kline, R. 2003. "Land



use planning and the control of alcohol, tobacco, firearms, and fast food restaurants." American Journal of Public Health, 93(9), 1404-1408.

- ²¹⁷ Institute of Alcohol Studies. (2005). Alcohol policies. Available at http://www.ias.org.uk/resources/factsheets/factsheets.html
- ²¹⁸ Home Office. 2008. *Safe. sensible. social. alcohol strategy local implementation toolkit.* (London, UK: Department of Health.) Available at http://www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/publications/other-publications/local-implementation-toolkit
- ²¹⁹ Galvani, S. 2010. *Grasping the nettle: Alcohol and domestic violence*. (Factsheet Alcohol Concern. Available at http://www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/assets/files/Publications/Grasping%20the%20nettle%20factsheet%20revised%20June %202010.pdf
- ²²⁰ Holder, H. D. 2004. "Community prevention of young adult drinking and associated problems." *Alcohol Research & Health*, 28(4), 245-249.
- ²²¹ An off-premise outlet is one in which alcohol that is purchased must be consumed off the premises. (Also known as an off-sale outlet). An on-premise outlet is one in which alcohol is bought and consumed on premise. (Also known as an on-sale outlet).
- ²²² Villani, C.; DeLuca, V.C. 2010. Required Distance Between Establishments Holding Liquor License Will Vary By Town. Available at http://www.newjerseyabclawyerblog.com/2010/10/required-distance-between-esta.html
- ²²³ Monteiro, M. 2007. *Alcohol and public health in the Americas: A case for action*. (Washington, DC: Pan American Health Organization).
- World Health Organization Europe. 2005. *Alcohol and interpersonal violence*. Available at http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/98806/E87347.pdf
- For examples of how this is being done in cities and counties in the US, see: http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/minnesota/washington/41 and http://www.thehdmt.org/indicators/view/73
- ²²⁶ See, for example the Spectrum of Prevention
- (http://www.preventioninstitute.org/index.php?option=com_jlibrary&view=article&id=105&Itemid=127) and the Population Health Promotion Model (http://courseweb.edteched.uottawa.ca/pop8910/Outline/Models/Hamilton-Bhatti.htm)
- ²²⁷ Cohen, L. 1999. The Spectrum of Prevention: Developing a Comprehensive Approach to Injury Prevention. The Prevention Institute. Available at:
- http://www.preventioninstitute.org/index.php?option=com_jlibrary&view=article&id=105&Itemid=127
- ²²⁸ Roach, K. 2001. The Uses and Audiences of Preambles in Legislation. McGill Law Journal. Vol. 47. Available at: http://lawjournal.mcgill.ca/documents/47.1.Roach.pdf
- ²²⁹ Alaska Network on Domestic Violence & Sexual Assault. 2010. *Pathways to Prevent Domestic Violence: A Plan for Alaska 2010-2016*. Juneau, Alaska: Author. Availble at http://www.andvsa.org/wp-content/uploads/2009/03/statewide-prevention-plan.pdf
- ²³⁰ Commonwealth of Australia. 2009. *Time for Action: The National Council's Plan for Australia to Reduce Violence Against Women and Their Children 2009-2021.* Department of Families, Housing Community Services and Indigenous Affairs. Available at
- http://www.fahcsia.gov.au/sa/women/pubs/violence/np time for action/national plan/Documents/The Plan.pdf
- ²³¹ Ministry of Social Development. 2002. *Te Rito: New Zealand Family Violence Prevention Strategy*. Wellington, New Zealand: Author. Available at http://www.msd.govt.nz/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/planning-strategy/te-rito/index.html
- ²³² Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. 2006. *Taking Action Against Violence 2006-2012: Violence Prevention Initiative*. Available at http://www.gov.nl.ca/VPI/publications/actionplan2006_2012_1.pdf
- Republic of Turkey Prime Ministry. 2007. Combating Domestic Violence Against Women: National Action Plan, Directorate General on the Status of Women. Available at http://www.ksgm.gov.tr/Pdf/kyais-uep-eng.pdf
- Welsh Assembly Government. (2005). *Tackling Domestic Abuse: The All Wales National Strategy*. Cardiff, UK: Author. Online report published at http://www.lfcc.on.ca/all_wales_national_strategy.pdf



- ²³⁵ Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. 1999. *Intimate Partner Violence Surveillance: Uniform Definitions and Recommended data Elements Version 1.0* (Atlanta, GA: National Centre for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention).
- ²³⁶ Sh!ft the Project to End Domestic Violence, 2011.Domestic and Sexual Violence Summary of Preliminary Research Findings
- ²³⁷ Gold, L., Norma, R., Devine, A., Feder, G. Taft, A., & Hegarty, K. (2011) Cost effectiveness of health care interventions to address intimate partner violence: What do we know and what else should we look for? *Violence against women* 2011 17: 389-403. Sage Publications.
- ²³⁸ See for example, Corso, P. 2009 "Economic analysis and the prevention of intimate partner violence." In C. Mitchell & D. Anglin (Eds.), *Intimate Partner Violence: A Health-based Perspective* (pp.53-60). (New York, NY: Oxford University Press).
- ²³⁹ See for example, Day, T.; McKenna, K.; Bowlus, A. 2005. *The Economic Costs of Violence Against Women: An Evaluation of the Literature. Expert brief compiled in preparation for the Secretary-General's in-depth study on all forms of violence against women.* (London, ON: University of Western Ontario).
- ²⁴⁰ See for example, Godenzi, A.; Yodanis, C. 1999 "Male Violence: The economic costs a methodological review." Available at www.eurowrc.com follow the links to English publications.
- ²⁴¹ Follow the links from the product main page, http://www.statcan.gc.ca/bsolc/olc-cel/olc-cel?catno=12M0023X&lang=eng
- ²⁴² See Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System. Available at http://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/yrbs/index.htm.
- ²⁴³ See *Men's violence against women: Extent, characteristics and the measures against violence 2007.* National Institute of Public Health, Denmark. Available at http://www.niph.dk/Udgivelser/B%C3%B8ger%20og%20rapporter/2007/2717 M%C3%A6nds vold mod kvinder.aspx
- 244 Government of Alberta. 2008. Taking Action on Family Violence and Bullving: Report to Albertans 2008. Available at:
- http://www.child.alberta.ca/home/documents/familyviolence/Taking_Action_on_Family_Violence_and_Bullying_Report_to_Albertans_FINAL.pdf
- ²⁴⁵ Alaska Network on Domestic Violence & Sexual Assault. 2010. *Pathways to Prevent Domestic Violence: A Plan for Alaska 2010-2016.* Available at http://www.andvsa.org/wp-content/uploads/2009/03/statewide-prevention-plan.pdf; VicHealth. 2007. *Preventing Violence Before It Occurs: A framework and background paper to guide the primary prevention of violence against women in Victoria,* (Melbourne, Australia: VicHealth); WHO. 2010. *Preventing Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Against Women: Taking Action and Generating Evidence.* (Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization).
- ²⁴⁶ Alaska Network on Domestic Violence & Sexual Assault. 2010. *Pathways to Prevent Domestic Violence: A Plan for Alaska 2010-2016*. Available at http://www.andvsa.org/wp-content/uploads/2009/03/statewide-prevention-plan.pdf
- ²⁴⁷ Jamieson, W.; Gnomes, L. 2010. *The Family Violence Initiative Report for April 2004 to March 2008.* (Ottawa, ON: National Clearinghouse on Family Violence, Public Health Agency of Canada)
- ²⁴⁸ National Institute of Public Health. 2008. *Men's Violence Against Women: Extent, Characteristics and the Measures Against Violence 2007.* (Copenhagen, Denmark: Ministry of Gender Equality). Available at www.niph.dk/upload/english summary.violence 003.pdf
- ²⁴⁹ National Council to Reduce Violence Against Women and their Children. 2009. *Time for Action: The National Council's Plan for Australia to Reduce Violence Against Women and their Children*. (Commonwealth of Australia). Available at http://www.fahcsia.gov.au/sa/women/pubs/violence/np_time_for_action/national_plan/Pages/default.aspx
- ²⁵⁰ Calgary Domestic Violence Collective. 2012. *CDVC Guiding Document 2012-2013*. Unpublished document.
- ²⁵¹ In 2010, 81% of all police-reported domestic assaults in Canada were against women (*Family Violence in Canada: A Statistical Profile, 2010*. Available at http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/120522/dq120522a-eng.pdf). Futhermore, "females continued to report more serious forms of spousal violence than males. For example, in 2009, females who reported spousal violence were about three times more likely than males (34% versus 10%) to report that they had been



sexually assaulted, beaten, choked or threatened with a gun or a knife by their partner or ex-partner in the previous 5 years (*Family Violence in Canada: A Statistical Profile, 2011*. Available at http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-224-x/85-224-x2010000-eng.pdf). Women were also three times as likely to be killed by their spouse (ibid).

²⁵² Institute of Medicine. 2001. Crossing the quality chasm: A new health system for the 21st century. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

²⁵³ http://www.swc-cfc.gc.ca/pol/gba-acs/index-eng.html

²⁵⁴ http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-004-x/2010004/def/immigrant-eng.htm

²⁵⁵ Alberta Justice. 2008. *Domestic Violence handbook for Police and Crown Prosecutors*. (Edmonton, AB: Government of Alberta).

²⁵⁶ World Health Organization. 2007. "Primary Prevention of Domestic Violence and Sexual Violence: Background paper for WHO expert Meeting May 2-3."

²⁵⁷ http://www.peianc.com/sitefiles/File/resources/law_modules/02-ImmigrationLaws-May09.pdf

²⁵⁸ http://www.albertacanada.com/immigration/immigrating/definitions.aspx



Appendix A: Review Panel

Early drafts of this paper were vetted by the following reviewers and changes were made as a result of their feedback.

Dr. Robbie Babins-Wagner, PhD, RSW Chief Executive Officer, Calgary Counselling Centre, Adjunct Professor, Faculty of Social Work, University of Calgary

Dr. Linda Chamberlain, PhD, MPH Founding Director of the Alaska Family Violence Prevention Project

Jennifer Koshan, BSc, LLB, LLM, Associate Professor, Faculty of Law, University of Calgary



Appendix B: Recommendations from the Alberta Federation of Labour Advocate

Entrenching Exploitation: the Second Report of the Alberta Federation of Labour Advocate outlines 21 recommendations to address issues related to the exploitation and abuse of Temporary Foreign Workers. Five recommendations are specifically directed to the Government of Alberta, with an additional recommendation directed to all levels of government. The remainder are directed to the Government of Canada. They are included here because, as the province with the highest use of the Temporary Foreign Workers, Alberta has a key role to play in lobbying the federal government for changes to the Temporary Foreign Workers Program (TFWP). (Note: The recommendations are presented verbatim below, with the exception of some acronyms which, for the sake of clarity, have been defined in the text).

Recommendations for a Long-Term Solution

- 1. The TFWP in its current incarnation should be ended immediately. No new Labour Market Opinions (LMOs)ⁱ should be issued, and any outstanding LMOs phased out over the next 12 months.
- 2. All foreign workers currently in Canada with valid work permits should be offered access to permanent residency in Canada, if they choose. This should take the form of a one-time special program to process applications of existing TFWP workers.
- 3. In future, any labour market issues should be addressed through a combination of enhanced use of under-represented groups in the labour market (Aboriginals, people with disabilities, newcomers, etc.) and through an improved and expanded permanent immigration program.
- 4. Any future guest worker program should include National Occupational Classification (NOC)"0" and A occupations only, and should require substantial employer proof of labour shortage. No other occupations should be permitted under a TFWP. The remaining recommendations attempt to address specific problems with the TFWP to reduce the level of exploitation and mistreatment connected with the program. It should be made clear that these reforms only make the program less unpalatable and do not address the inherent injustice built into the program.

Recommendations for all levels of Government

5. All levels of governments should immediately ensure that all social safety protections are made available to foreign workers and their families on a basis equal to permanent residents in Canada. To not make these programs available is discriminatory, causing huge issues for ethnic communities scrambling to try to support people, and results in untold hardships for foreign workers and their families.



Recommendations for the Federal Government

- 6. TFWP workers, regardless of skill level, who have worked the equivalent of two years in a three-year period should be entitled to apply for permanent immigration status, much like the system in place for live-in caregivers. With the implementation of this permanent residency entitlement, the following should be implemented:
 - a. Upon the permanent residency application being accepted, a foreign worker should be issued an open work permit for the duration of the processing period;
 - b. If a foreign worker is not eligible for permanent residency, or does not apply for permanent residency within three years of arrival in Canada, then there should be no work permit renewals beyond the three-year period.
- 7. To eliminate the use of abusive brokers, the federal government should only allow the use of foreign workers from countries with which Canada has signed an accord, guaranteeing that the home country government will act as the labour broker. This would cut out brokers from the process, as has occurred with the agricultural workers from Mexico through the Seasonal Agricultural Worker Program (SAWP.)
- 8. Where foreign workers have brought their families and are laid off and unable to find alternate employment, the government should require the employer to provide return airfare for the workers' families as well as for the workers.
- 9. The federal government should arrange to have provincial governments report all contraventions of employment legislation to Human Resources and Skills Development Canada (HRSDC) and the federal government should utilize this information to review and, if necessary, revoke the LMO of offending employers.
- 10. The federal and provincial governments should negotiate an agreement to allow the province to enforce housing, transportation and other issues required by the LMO and allow the province to order rectification of any contraventions.
- 11. So long as the government allows the issuing of LMOs to enable more foreign workers to come to Canada, there should be a separate stream for the issuance of LMOs for foreign workers who are currently in Canada and whose employment has been terminated. Employers wishing to offer employment to foreign workers in Canada should not be subject to the current difficult criteria and the granting of a LMO should take no longer than a two-week period in such cases.
- 12. The "occupations under pressure" list should be eliminated. Employers requesting LMOs for NOC B, C and D occupations should be required to provide extensive evidence of labour shortages.
- 13. A strict quota should be implemented, capping the numbers of NOC B, C and D workers permitted into Canada in any given year.
- 14. Additional resources should be allocated to enforcement of LMO processes, allowing HRSDC to investigate employers and issue appropriate penalties.



- 15. Employment Insurance (EI) and Canada Pension Plan (CPP) rules pertaining to the TFWP should be clarified and amended, as necessary, to ensure that foreign workers have access to benefits on the same terms as Canadians.
- 16. LMOs should include a legal obligation that the employer be financially responsible to re-imburse the worker for any illegal fees charged by brokers. Employers need an incentive to ensure these fees are not charged to workers.

Recommendations for the Provincial Government

- 17. The mandate of the provincial Advisory Office should be expanded to allow direct casework and advocacy, focusing on referral to alternative employment when needed. Additional funding resources should be provided to the Office to accommodate this expanded role.
- 18. The settlement-type services pilot project should be expanded to include immigrant-serving agencies in all communities.
- 19. Employment legislation enforcement should be expanded with larger dedicated teams of officers and a broader scope of enforcement topics (housing, brokers, etc.)
- 20. General information meetings should be organized with all newly arrived temporary foreign workers to provide basic employment and human rights.
- 21. The Fair Trading Act should be amended to further restrict which brokers are permitted to operate in Alberta, to clarify the prohibition against the charging of recruitment fees and to allow for larger penalties against brokers who breach the act. It should also be amended to prohibit fees charged to live-in caregivers, which is currently allowed.

Source: Alberta Federation of Labour. 2009. Entrenching exploitation: The second report of the Alberta Federation of Labour Temporary Foreign Worker Advocate. Available at http://www.afl.org/index.php/View-document/123-Entrenching-Exploitation-Second-Rept-of-AFL-Temporary-Foreign-Worker-Advocate.html







Initiated by The Brenda Strafford Chair in the Prevention of Domestic Violence